







#### UTILITY ASSESSMENT METHODS

Peter H. Farquhar

Graduate School of Administration University of California, Davis Davis, California 95616

Working Paper 81-5

Revised May 1982

This research was supported in part by the Office of Naval Research under Contract #N00014-80-C-0897, Task #NR-277-258.

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

All rights reserved. Reproduction in whole or in part is not permitted without the written consent of the author, except for any purpose of the United States Government.

JUNO 2 1982

E \_

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)

DD 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 68 IS OBSOLETE 5/N 0102-014-6601

UNCLASSIFIED

#### UTILITY ASSESSMENT METHODS

Peter H. Farquhar University of California, Davis

## Abstract

2. 0

It

This paper integrates existing and new methods for assessing unidimensional expected utility functions in a comprehensive study of utility assessment. We describe briefly the utility assessment process in decision analysis and then review problem formulations, sources of bias in preference judgments, and the analysis of risk attitudes. We critically examine about two dozen utility assessment methods of which half appear for the first time. These methods are grouped under preference comparison methods, probability equivalence methods, value equivalence methods, certainty equivalence methods, hybrid methods, paired-gamble methods, and other approaches. We emphasize the nature of judgmental biases in comparing different assessment procedures. Since most multiattribute utility functions are decomposed into single-attribute functions, this study should facilitate such applications. We conclude with several directions for further developmental, empirical, and applied research.

Accession For

NTIS GRA&I
DTIC TAB
Unannounced
Justification

By\_\_\_\_
Distribution/
Availability Codes

Avail and/or
Special

# Table of Contents

		Page No.				
1.	Introduction	. 1				
2.	Preliminaries	. 4				
3.	Background for Utility Assessment	. 6				
	3.1 Assessment problem formulation	. 8				
	3.2 Potential sources of bias in preference judgments					
	3.3 Regulating the comparison of gambles	. 12				
4.	Preliminary Analysis of Risk Attitudes and Other Properties					
	4.1 Basic properties	. 16				
	4.2 Risk attitudes	. 17				
	4.3 Other approaches using risk	. 19				
5.	Utility Assessment Methods	20				
	5.1 Preference comparison methods	. 21				
	5.2 Estimation of indifference points	. 22				
	5.3 Probability equivalence methods					
	5.3(a) Extreme gambles	23				
	5.3(b) Adjacent gambles	. 23				
	5.3(c) Assorted gambles					
	5.4 Value equivalence methods	. 25				
	5.4(a) Uniform sequence	. 25				
	5.4(b) Balanced values					
	5.4(c) Multiplication					
	5.4(d) Equisection					
	5.5 Certainty equivalence methods					
	5.5(a) Fractile					
	5.5(b) Chaining methods: fractionation and midpoints	. 29				
6.	Further Methods in Utility Assessment	. 31				
	6.1 Hybrid assessment methods	. 32				
	6.2 Paired-gamble methods	. 33				
	6.2(a) Preference comparison	. 33				
	6.2(b) Probability equivalence	. 34				
	6.2(c) Value equivalence	. 35				
	6.3 Other approaches	. 36				
7.	Summary and Directions for Future Research	. 37				
8.	Acknowledgements	. 40				
^	Deference	41				

#### UTILITY ASSESSMENT METHODS

Peter H. Farquhar University of California, Davis

#### 1. Introduction

Many decision problems involve considerable uncertainty about the outcomes of alternative decisions. Often it is important not only to evaluate the possible outcomes in a decision problem but also to judge the riskiness of various alternatives. One approach that has received broad application in analyzing preferences for risky decisions is expected utility theory.

There is a sizable literature on utility theory and applications.

Fishburn [47] provides a comprehensive survey of contributions to expected utility theory by von Neumann and Morgenstern [161], Savage [134], Pratt, Raiffa, and Schlaifer [125, 126], Fishburn [41, 50], and many others [40, 53, 54, 65, 73, 86, 96, 97, 103, 124]. On the other hand, critical reviews of expected utility models for decision making are in [1, 27, 29, 34, 35, 37, 67, 76, 98, 128, 138, 139, 142]. Recent utility research has focused on generalizations and alternatives to expected utility theory [11, 17, 19, 30, 45, 46, 48, 75, 76, 77, 102, 158], various behavioral issues [10, 27, 29, 35, 36, 64, 67, 75, 98, 128, 138, 142, 145, 155, 156, 157], multiattribute utility analysis [12, 31, 32, 71, 83],

and related topics in decision making. Practical applications of utility analysis are summarized in [2, 12, 31, 40, 57, 63, 71, 81, 82, 83, 115, 117, 146, 150].

The main purpose of this paper is to provide an integration of existing methods for assessing single-attribute utility functions and to present some new assessment methods that may be appropriate for further applications and research. Several aspects of utility assessment are covered in previous studies by Fishburn [39], Hull et al. [72], Kneppreth et al. [85], Keeney and Raiffa [83], Johnson and Huber [74], and others, but these studies do not cover many recent research contributions and technological developments. Our emphasis is on investigating different steps in the utility assessment process and, in particular, on studying various methods of comparing gambles.

There are usually five steps in assessing unidimensional expected utility functions [83]:

- 1. Preparation for a utility assessment typically includes structuring the decision problem, developing an appropriate scale for measuring the attribute to be evaluated, and then acquainting the decision maker with various aspects of assessment procedures.
- 2. Identification of relevant qualitative characteristics, such as monotonicity, boundedness, continuity, or risk properties, provides useful information on the form of admissible utility functions.
- 3. Specification of quantitative restrictions on the decision maker's utility function is accomplished by comparing various gambles over the attribute in question.
- 4. Selection of a utility function satisfying the quantitative restrictions is usually made from a parametric family of functions derived from the qualitative characteristics identified earlier.
- 5. Checks for consistency are essential in reconciling possible inconsistencies and in ensuring that the overall results adequately reflect the decision maker's preferences for risky decisions.

The order of these steps varies in particular assessment applications.

Recycling through some of these steps is common as a decision maker refines his judgments. Further details and alternate descriptions of the process of assessing utility functions are found in various references on decision analysis [2, 24, 68, 70, 80, 82, 83, 89, 125, 126, 127, 135, 136, 137].

Although a few multiattribute utility assessment procedures use trade-off methods involving two or more attributes directly [39, 99, 100, 101], most multiattribute utility functions are decomposed into several simpler components that require the assessment of only single-attribute utility functions [31, 32]. Thus the methodologies presented in this paper have wider application than decision problems involving only one attribute. Indeed, the most frequent use of single-attribute procedures is likely to be in facilitating the assessment of multiattribute utility functions.

A drawback of many recent applications is the heavy reliance on chaining methods of utility assessment. These assessment methods are very simple analytically, though behavioral research has shown that they often produce distortions in judgments [29, 64, 75, 108, 109, 111, 138, 139, 145, 155, 156]. One conclusion from empirical studies is the importance of counteracting possible biases by using more than one methodology in the assessment process [35, 36]. Some analysts recommend that different methods also should be used to check the consistency and adequacy of a utility function. Therefore, a second purpose of this paper is to promote broader usage of utility assessment methods now available.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 describes assumptions, terminology, and basic methods for making a single comparison of two gambles. Section 3 examines several background issues in utility assessment, such as assessment problem formulation, sources of bias in preference judgments, and

regulating the context of a comparison of gambles. Section 4 considers the qualitative analysis of risk and other properties as a preliminary step in utility assessment. Section 5 deals with methods for assessing utility functions; this section covers preference comparison methods, probability equivalence methods, value equivalence methods, and certainty equivalence methods. Section 6 considers hybrid methods of utility assessment, paired-gamble methods, and several other topics. Section 7 concludes the paper with a brief summary and some directions for further research.

#### 2. Preliminaries

Let X be a subset of real numbers representing the possible levels of a single attribute, such as market share, net asset value, units defective, response time, body weight, etc. We assume that each possible outcome, or consequence, in a given decision problem can be identified with a particular level x in the attribute set X. If multiple attributes are needed to describe the decision outcomes, then all attributes except X are presumably held fixed at some implicit level.

In examining risky decision problems, we treat alternative decisions as gambles (or lotteries) over finite sets of outcomes from X, though more general formulations are possible. Thus a decision alternative is defined here as a gamble which assigns probabilities  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , ...,  $\alpha_m$ , adding to one, to some outcomes  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ , ...,  $x_m$  in X, respectively. Let P denote the collection of all such gambles over X.

We further assume that an individual decision maker has a preference relation > over the gambles in P satisfying an appropriate set of expected

utility axioms [41, 47]. Thus, there exists a real function u on X, called a utility function for  $\Rightarrow$  on P, such that for all gambles p,q $\epsilon$ P, p is preferred to q (i.e., p  $\Rightarrow$  q) if and only if the expected utility of p is greater than the expected utility of q (i.e.,  $\sum_{x \in X} p(x)u(x) > \sum_{x \in X} q(x)u(x)$ ). In later applications it may be necessary to impose some additional restrictions on the utility function.

A utility function is unique up to positive, linear transformations: if u and v are both utility functions for the preference relation > on P, then v = a + bu for some constants a and b with b > 0. This uniqueness property allows one to choose a convenient origin and scale unit in assessing a utility function. Further discussion on expected utility theories and properties of utility functions is in [40, 41, 47, 50, 73, 96, 125, 161].

Most utility assessment methods covered in this paper consider gambles over just two outcomes in X, since extensions to more than two outcomes appear to be straightforward. For x,y $\in$ X and  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , the gamble which yields outcome x with probability  $\alpha$  and outcome y with probability  $1 - \alpha$  is denoted by  $[x, \alpha, y]$ . If either x = y,  $\alpha = 0$ , or  $\alpha = 1$ , the gamble  $[x, \alpha, y]$  is degenerate because a particular outcome occurs for certain. For convenience, [x, 1/2, y] is abbreviated as [x, y].

A single comparison of gambles in most utility assessment procedures involves the expression

$$[x, \alpha, y] R [w, \beta, z], \qquad (1)$$

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ To each outcome x in X, the gamble p assigns probability p(x), the gamble q assigns probability q(x), and the function u assigns utility u(x).

where all items but one are fixed beforehand and the individual decision maker specifies the remaining item such that (1) holds, if possible. Note that in (1), x,y,w,z $\in$ X; 0 <  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  < 1; and R is one of the following relations, > (is more preferred than), ~ (is indifferent to), or < (is less preferred than), where these relations are derived from > in the usual way [40, 41].

The basic methods for comparing two gambles are listed in Table 1 under the categories of standard-gamble methods and paired-gamble methods. Under the first category one of the two gambles is degenerate in each comparison, while under the second category neither gamble is degenerate in each comparison. Note that the item underlined in each expression in Table 1 is to be specified by the individual decision maker, since all other items are presumably fixed beforehand.

Table 1 goes here

There are many methods for obtaining a sequence of gamble comparisons from each single comparison method listed in Table 1. Further descriptions of these varied assessment methods are presented in Sections 5 and 6.

# 3. Background for Utility Assessment

A reasonable background for subsequent discussions of assessment methods includes some consideration of different formulations of the assessment problem, possible sources of bias in preference judgments, and regulating the comparisons of gambles.

TABLE 1

Methods for Making a Single Comparison of Two Gambles

# I. Standard-Gamble Methods

1. Preference comparison: [x, a, y] R w

2. Probability equivalence:  $[x, \underline{\alpha}, y] \sim w$ , where w is between x and y

3. Value equivalence:  $[x, a, y] \sim w$ 

4. Certainty equivalence:  $[x, \alpha, y] \sim \underline{w}$ 

# II. Paired-Gamble Methods

5. Preference comparison:  $[x, \alpha, y] R [w, \beta, z]$ 

6. Probability equivalence:  $[x, \underline{\alpha}, y] \sim [w, \beta, z]$ , where both w and z are between x and y

7. Value equivalence:  $[x, \alpha, y] \sim [w, \beta, z]$ 

## 3.1 Assessment Problem Formulation

The assessment data available to a decision analyst typically consists of a set of preliminary assumptions and properties and a set of constraints derived from a sequence of gamble comparisons of the form in (1). A utility function that is consistent with particular assessment data is said to be admissible.

The assessment problem may be formulated then in several ways. If the assessment data is known to be internally consistent, the analytical problem might be to (1) specify the set of all admissible utility functions, (2) determine whether or not a given parametric family of functions is admissible, (3) find any admissible utility function, or (4) select a "best" admissible utility function, according to some additional criteria. Other assessment problems could be formulated, too. The literature on consistent assessment of utility functions is quite limited; Meyer and Pratt [104] and Bradley and Frey [16] use linear programming techniques to address some of these problems, but many issues remain unresolved. Somewhat related problems occur in probability assessment [66, 91, 94, 106, 141, 147, 163, 166, 167, 168].

Decision analysts have observed that many individuals do not immediately exhibit consistent preference responses in complicated decision situations [19, 82, 83, 164]. As a decision maker further understands the implications of his expressed preferences, modifications of previous responses are frequently encountered in a utility assessment. Experienced analysts rely on their intuition and a variety of means to spot possible inconsistent responses during the assessment process and thereby allow a decision maker the opportunity to change his mind [35, 37, 81]. Thus, efforts are directed at promoting consistent assessment data. As noted in a later section, some assessment methods readily provide consistency checks on the responses, while other methods do not.

Despite practical efforts to promote consistency, it is not uncommon to end an assessment with data that might be inconsistent. The analytical problem may then be formulated to (1) find a maximal consistent subset of data and perhaps attempt to reconcile any suspected inconsistencies, (2) approximately satisfy the data with a "quasi-admissible" utility function, (3) adopt a probabilistic utility model of the data that accounts for random errors in the responses, or (4) pursue some other approach. Research on these problems is scattered and often not directed specifically at assessing utility functions. Notable exceptions include research on probabilistic utility models [8, 30, 46, 97] and a few other approaches [11, 17, 19, 43, 45, 61, 76, 77, 120, 121, 138, 139, 157]. One promising approach is that of Novick et al. [112, 114] who use overspecification and least-squares fitting procedures to identify inconsistencies in utility judgments (also see Spetzler [146]). Some of their assessment methods are aimed at avoiding the biases in preference responses resulting from certainty effects and anchoring heuristics.

#### 3.2 Potential Sources of Bias in Preference Judgments

Behavioral research on decision making demonstrates the labile nature of preference judgments. Seemingly subtle changes in problem structure, question format, response mode, individual perspective, or other aspects of the assessment process can sometimes dramatically change the preference responses of an individual decision maker. For example, Fischhoff, Slovic, and Lichtenstein [37] describe how decision analysts might unavoidably shape the assessment process in (1) formulating the decision problem, the alternatives, the measurement scales, and other structural features; (2) controlling the response mode and perspectives of the decision maker; and perhaps even (3) altering the value structure at various steps in the assessment process. Fischhoff [35, 36] comments further on the influence of the decision analyst in the assessment process.

A major recommendation from behavioral studies on individual decision making is to utilize more than one assessment procedure. In complicated or unfamiliar decision problems, consistent responses with a single assessment procedure may result primarily from a convenient heuristic rule or from a salient contextual effect. By systematically varying assessment procedures and contextual elements in behavioral research, it has been possible to examine some of their effects on preference judgments. This information can be helpful to decision analysts in choosing appropriate utility assessment procedures for particular decision situations.

There are many potential biases in making preference judgments. Hogarth [67, pp. 166-170] provides a compact summary of judgmental biases, so only two are emphasized here. Tversky [155, p. 212] argues, "human preferences are subject to a major bias, the certainty effect, according to which the utility (or the disutility) of an outcome looms larger when it is certain than when it is uncertain." Bias from the certainty effect may account for sharp differences (even inconsistencies) between responses obtained from standard-gamble methods and paired-gamble methods. For example, in one experiment a large number of individuals exhibited the following preferences,

$$\$45$$
 [\$100, 1/2, \$0] and [\$100, 1/20, \$0]  $\rightarrow$  [\$45, 1/10, \$0]; (2)

yet these preference relations are incompatible with any expected utility function. "Furthermore, the respondents whose preferences were inconsistent with utility theory were given the opportunity to revise their preferences. While most of the respondents expressed mild embarrassment for violating utility theory, very few were inclined to modify their choices" [155, p. 211]. Further studies by Tversky and Kahneman [156, 157] and others [1, 29, 64, 67, 75, 98, 138, 142, 145] describe other persistent judgmental biases.

The anchoring and adjustment heuristic described in [67, 142, 144, 147, 156] is another potential source of bias in utility assessment. The first response, a readily accessible piece of information, or a salient contextual factor can provide an individual with an initial basis for making judgments. Subsequent responses are determined by adjustments in this basis, or "anchor;" biases occur whenever these adjustments are insufficient. For example, if the median is elicited first in making probability judgments about some uncertain event, insufficient adjustments often lead to a central bias in the assessed probabilities [66, 75, 147, 156, 163]. Similar results can be expected in using probability comparisons or midpoint chaining methods for assessing utility functions (see Section 5). Insufficient adjustments can lead to skewed risk attitudes in preference judgments. Some utility assessment protocols for fitting positive, decreasing risk averse functions encounter inconsistent responses from individuals who seem too risk averse for gambles with small spreads between the outcomes and much less risk averse for gambles with large spreads [137]. Other biases due to range effects have been noted also [88, 108, 109]. Since anchoring and adjustment is such a persistent heuristic, individuals may have to work quite hard in an assessment to resolve any biases or inconsistencies in their responses [36; 83, p. 210].

Hershey, Kunreuther, and Schoemaker [65] summarize five sources of potential bias in utility assessment procedures. Across a variety of experiments, they observe

...First, the certainty equivalence method generally yields more risk-seeking preferences than the probability equivalence method. Second, the probability and outcome levels used in reference lotteries induce systematic bias. Third, combining gain and loss domains yields different utility measures than separate examinations of the two domains.

Fourth, whether a risk is assumed or transferred away exerts a strong influence on people's preferences in ways counter to expected utility theory. Finally, context or framing differences strongly affect choice in a non-normative manner.

Observations from such studies highlight the contextual dependency of many utility assessment procedures. Other research [4, 15, 37, 58, 64, 75, 76, 92, 93, 95, 98, 118, 119, 129, 138, 139, 143, 153, 154, 157, 164, 169] on response mode effects and related topics in preference judgment further emphasizes the need for a better understanding of how to elicit and calibrate utility functions. More research is clearly warranted in this important area.

# 3.3 Regulating the Comparison of Gambles

The abstract descriptions of gamble comparison methods in Table 1 and in subsequent sections do not specify the context in which judgments are made. Since the context of an assessment can have significant effects on the derivation and interpretation of a utility function, some of these issues are collected here for discussion. The following discussion distinguishes between the sale, purchase, gift, or transfer of gambles. Although these contexts are illustrated with the certainty equivalence method of assessment on a monetary attribute, they apply generally to equivalence methods and arbitrary attributes (see Table 1).

For convenience, let X be measured in dollars and let G be a gamble over the monetary outcomes in X. A common procedure for assessing the utility of G requires the decision maker to specify a certainty equivalent \$w\$ for which he is indifferent between the sure outcome \$w\$ and the gamble G in a given situation. One situation assumes that the decision maker owns the rights to G; the certainty equivalent \$w\$ is determined then from the decision maker's minimum

selling price<sup>2</sup> for G. By the definition of \$w\$ in this sale, the decision maker is indifferent between the amount \$0 and the gamble G (the status quo) and the amount \$w\$ and no gamble G (the alternative).

Table 2 characterizes four contexts for assessing gambles with equivalence methods. Each context is distinguished by a different status quo position, although the decision maker always chooses a \$w so that the following two alternatives are equivalent.

(the amount 0 and the gamble G) (1) (the amount 0 and no gamble G)

## Table 2 goes here

Starting with neither money nor gamble in hand, the decision maker in the gift situation of Table 2 is offered his choice of an amount of money or the gamble G. He is asked to specify an amount \$w\$ for which he is indifferent between receiving the money or the gamble as a gift in (3). On the other hand, the decision maker in the transfer situation begins with both money and gamble in hand and then is forced to give up one or the other. The decision maker is

The minimum selling price for a gamble is occasionally difficult to elicit from decision makers who wish to profit from the exchange. The following scenario helps to overcome this inertial effect [64]. The decision maker is asked to sell the gamble at an auction where he must provide the sales agent with a "reservation price" \$w in advance of the bidding. Once the reservation price is set, no negotiations are allowed at the auction. If the highest bid is less than \$w\$, then no sale takes place; if the highest bid is at least \$w\$, then the gamble is sold and the decision maker receives the amount of the highest bid. With very weak restrictions on the probability distribution of bids and the decision maker's utility function, Toda and MacCrimmon [151] prove that the reservation price which maximizes expected utility is indeed the decision maker's minimum selling price. This technique is analogous to a "proper scoring rule" for motivating an individual to report his true values in probability assessment [66, 91, 147, 163, 168]. Although similar auction techniques are available for other situations in Table 2, few applied studies report using them [9].

TABLE 2
Status Quo Positions for Four Situations in Assessing Equivalent Gambles

	No money in hand	Money in hand
No gamble in hand	Gift	Purchase
Gamble in hand	Sale	Transfer

asked to specify an amount \$w such that he is indifferent between transferring the money or the gamble in (3). In both of these situations, the status quo position is bound to change, because it is not among the two alternatives from which the decision maker chooses.

The purchase situation is analogous to the sale situation described earlier. Starting with money in hand and no gamble, the decision maker is asked to specify his maximum buying price \$w for the purchase of the gamble G. In this case, his status quo position (the amount \$w and no gamble G) is judged equivalent to the alternative position (the amount \$0 and the gamble G), as in (3). Recall that in the sale situation \$w is interpreted as the minimum selling price of the gamble G, and the status quo position is reversed in (3). In both situations, the status quo position is one of the two alternatives in (3), so inertial effects are unavoidable in the assessments [64].

For convenience, we used the same symbol \$w to denote the certainty equivalent in each context above. Raiffa [127, pp. 89-91] and others note that in general \$w is not constant across contexts. On the contrary, if for all gambles G the minimum selling price equals the maximum buying price, then the individual has a constant risk attitude and hence the underlying utility function must be either linear or exponential [122, 124]. One can derive many qualitative properties of the utility function by further exploring relationships between certainty equivalents in other contexts.

Before ending this section, we note that the regulation of gamble comparisons also involves the ways in which outcomes are represented to the decision maker. For many years the accepted practice in utility analysis has been to consider gambles over final assets in dealing with monetary outcomes [40, 127, 135, 136, 150]. Recent research has considered various models for evaluating

gambles over gains and losses when initial assets are given. Further discussion of these and other approaches is in [11, 45, 49, 51, 64, 76, 120, 121, 157].

# 4. Preliminary Analysis of Risk Attitudes and Other Properties

Before comparing gambles in a utility assessment, it is useful to examine risk attitudes and other factors affecting an individual's preferences. This preliminary analysis provides a basis for making reasonable assumptions about the form of a utility function.

#### 4.1 Basic Properties

A preliminary analysis begins with basic questions about monotonicity, boundedness, continuity, and wher properties. For example, monotonicity is a common assumption because it guarantees the uniqueness of indifference points in gamble comparisons and thereby simplifies the utility assessment. Moreover, monotonicity is easily checked by asking an individual to rank outcomes according to increasing preference. For some attributes, like body temperature or caloric intake, preferences are "single-peaked" instead of monotonic, that is, preferences increase up to some "ideal point" and decrease thereafter [4, 18]. Although more complicated preference relationships can be described, it is usually possible to restructure the attribute or to partition the assessment to obtain monotonic preferences. With little practical loss in generality, we assume throughout that the utility function u is a strictly increasing function on X.

In most situations, bounds on the utility function are simple to determine.

Bounds are obvious for many attributes, like market share, units defective,

etc., which naturally have a best and worst outcome. Other attributes, like

response time, have preferences asymptotically approaching an upper or lower

bound. Even in situations where preferences might be unbounded, often the underlying attribute is restricted in range for practical purposes. Further discussion and references are in [42, 44, 79].

Preliminary analyses rarely check continuity, differentiability, or other technical properties; instead, these properties are usually regarded as axioms [22, 52, 56]. Further discussion about the preliminary analysis of basic properties is in Keeney and Raiffa [83], LaValle [89], and other books on decision analysis.

#### 4.2 Risk Attitudes

Much recent research has focused on the investigation of various risk properties as a key aspect of analyzing preferences. While some properties provide only weak characterizations, other risk properties restrict the admissible utility functions to particular parametric families, such as linear, exponential, logarithmic, or power functions. In these latter cases, the utility assessment process is considerably shortened, because one need only determine an appropriate set of parameters from a few gamble comparisons to complete the assessment. In any event, an individual's risk attitudes provide convenient consistency checks on the assessed utility function, so a preliminary analysis of risk attitudes is an important step in the assessment process.

Basic risk attitudes can be described using the following comparison.

$$x - \pi(x, t) \sim [x + t, x - t]$$
 where  $t > 0$ . (4)

The difference between the expected value of the gamble [x + t, x - t] and its certainty equivalent is called the *risk premium*,  $\pi(x, t)$ , for this gamble. An individual's preferences are (1) *risk averse* if  $\pi(x, t) > 0$ , (2) *risk neutral* if  $\pi(x, t) = 0$ , or (3) *risk prone* if  $\pi(x, t) < 0$ , for all x. Note that the

corresponding utility function must be (1) concave, (2) linear, or (3) convex, respectively. Alternatively, one can define these basic risk attitudes in terms of the *risk function* r(x) = -u''(x)/u'(x), but we shall not pursue this approach here [3, 26, 62, 83, 124, 130, 170].

Furthermore, for a given basic risk attitude one can define a comparative risk attitude that is (1) decreasing if  $\pi(x, t) > \pi(y, t)$ , (2) constant if  $\pi(x, t) = \pi(y, t)$ , or (3) increasing if  $\pi(x, t) < \pi(y, t)$ , for all x < y. Pfanzagl [122] and Pratt [124] show that a constant risk attitude, for example, implies that the corresponding utility function is either linear or exponential.

$$u(x) = \begin{cases} a - be^{-rx} & \text{for } r > 0 \text{ (u is risk averse),} \\ a + bx & \text{for } r = 0 \text{ (u is risk neutral),} \end{cases}$$
(5)  
$$a + be^{-rx} & \text{for } r < 0 \text{ (u is risk prone),} \end{cases}$$

where  $r(x) \equiv r$  is a risk parameter and a and b are just scaling constants with b > 0. Keeney and Raiffa [83, pp. 191-193] and Novick and Lindley [114, p. 307] describe the use of "adjacent gambles" for checking basic and comparative risk attitudes before a utility assessment (see Section 5.3(b)).

Other risk attitudes typically yield many possible parametric families of admissible utility functions. Tables of some common functions that satisfy various risk attitudes are available in [83, 89, 124, 137, 159]. For example, in developing an interactive computer program to assess a utility function that is decreasingly risk averse, Schlaifer [137] considers a sumex function  $u(x) = -e^{-ax} - be^{-cx}$  for a > 0 and bc > 0. These parameters can be determined easily from three gambles of the form in (4) with t fixed. On the other hand, Spetzler [146] describes the process of selecting an appropriate utility

function for decreasingly risk averse individuals facing investment decisions. He begins with a logarithmic function  $u(x) = a + b \cdot \log(x + c)$  for b > 0 and adds two more parameters before obtaining a satisfactory fit. Other examples are in [51, 57, 63, 80, 81, 83, 115, 150, 164].

For some attributes, one can define proportional risk attitudes by replacing (4) with the comparison  $x - \pi^*(x, s) \cdot x \sim [x + sx, x - sx]$  for s > 0. For instance, a constant proportional risk attitude, which has  $\pi^*(x, s) = \pi^*(y, s)$  for all x and y, yields a corresponding utility measure that is either a power function or a logarithmic function [83, 124]. Recently, Harvey [62] has defined a class of linear risk attitudes that includes all the risk attitudes mentioned above. His general approach produces appropriate functional forms for utility measures corresponding to a variety of risk attitudes that are easily checked before an assessment.

A new direction of research attempts to separate attitudes toward risk from an individual's strength-of-preference (or marginal value) for sure outcomes. Dyer and Sarin [26] introduce the concept of relative risk attitude in comparing an individual's von Neumann-Morgenstern utility function with his measurable value function [25, 41, 133, 149]. Krzysztofowicz [87] reviews some of the implications of this research for modifying the Arrow-Pratt risk measure mentioned above. Other research in this area includes [13, 33, 78, 139, 162].

#### 4.3 Other Approaches Using Risk

Meyer and Pratt [104] describe an empirical procedure for assessing utility functions that uses risk attitudes to specify constraints in a linear programming model. They allow changes in risk attitude across different regions of an attribute and do not make a priori assumptions about the functional form of the utility. Further research by Bradley and Frey [16] shows

how to use information from risk attitudes and previous responses to establish bounds on the probability responses and certainty equivalents for additional standard-gamble comparisons. Their methodology is helpful in avoiding inconsistent responses in interactive computer assessments of utility functions. Keeney and Raiffa [83] describe simple uses of such techniques in practical applications.

Hammond [60] presents an approach that eliminates the need for assessing a utility function when the decision problem involves relatively few uncertain alternatives. This approach examines how the graphs of the cumulative probability functions (or risk profiles [116]) of two alternatives cross one another. By using basic risk attitudes and restrictions on the pattern of crossings, one can determine the preference order of uncertain alternatives. Related research in the area of stochastic dominance provides somewhat similar approaches [5, 6, 165]. Further work in this area may be useful in reducing the need for full assessments of utility functions.

## 5. Utility Assessment Methods

This section examines different sequences of standard-gamble comparisons that can be used to assess a utility function. The various methods are described under four principal categories: (1) preference comparison methods, (2) probability equivalence methods, (3) value equivalence methods, and (4) certainty equivalence methods. Section 6 considers additional methods.

We need to say a few words about the representation  $[x, \alpha, y]$  which denotes the gamble yielding outcome x with probability  $\alpha$  and outcome y with probability  $1-\alpha$ . Although  $1-\alpha$  is implicit in this notation, a variety of empirical studies indicate that the actual gamble should be displayed to the decision maker in a format that makes all components explicit [15, 75, 98, 118,

119, 143, 156]. Thus, the gamble  $[x, \alpha, y]$  is symbolic for displays such as

event	probability	outcome			a / ^
A	α	x	win x	$\begin{bmatrix} \alpha \\ 1-\alpha \end{bmatrix}$ win	
not A	1 - α	У			1-a y
	(Table)			(Chart)	(Tree)

or others. Moreover, we assume for simplicity that both x and y are positive outcomes (i.e., pure gains) to avoid any ambiguity about gains and losses. This restriction has important behavioral implications, but extensions to other domains are straightforward [45, 49, 51, 64, 76, 157].

# 5.1 Preference Comparison Methods

In a preference comparison between the gamble  $[x, \alpha, y]$  and the sure outcome w, an individual specifies the relation R (either  $\gt$ ,  $\lt$ , or  $\sim$ ) such that the expression  $[x, \alpha, y]$   $\underline{R}$  w holds. Preference comparison methods involve a sequence of such comparisons,  $[x_i, \alpha_i, y_i]$   $\underline{R}_i$  w for i = 1, 2, ..., n, where the probabilities, values, and standards are chosen in particular ways.

There are three common uses of preference comparison methods in utility assessment. The first use is in investigating risk attitudes in a preliminary analysis. For example, risk averse individuals prefer w to [x, y] whenever  $(x + y)/2 \le w$ . A second use is in checking on the consistency of an assessed utility function. Each preference comparison provides a linear constraint that the utility function must satisfy. With a sufficiently large set of constraints, one might use this approach to develop fairly tight bounds on either admissible utility functions or consistent future responses [16, 20, 23, 104, 148]. A third use of preference comparison methods is to converge on an

indifference point where  $[x_n, \alpha_n, y_n] \sim w_n$ . Such convergence techniques iteratively adjust either the probabilities, values, or standards until indifference occurs [54, 72, 80, 81, 85, 111].

# 5.2 Estimation of Indifference Points

The following equivalence methods for utility assessment require indifference in the standard-gamble comparisons. The estimation of an indifference point (either a probability, value, or standard) can be accomplished in several ways. The direct estimation technique asks for an individual's indifference point in a single response [18, 74, 86, 123, 152]. The convergence technique successively adjusts points in a sequence of preference comparisons until indifference is established [72, 80, 81, 85, 111]. The bounding technique develops only upper and lower bounds on an indifference point through a sequence of responses. Such bounds are refined until a clear set of preferences emerges for the alternatives under consideration [38, 131, 132, 160].

The sequel presumes that an appropriate estimation technique is used to generate the indifference points in gamble comparisons and that proper attention is given to the background issues raised in Section 3.

#### 5.3 Probability Equivalence Methods

Probability equivalence methods require that an individual specify an indifference probability  $\alpha$  for which  $[x, \underline{\alpha}, y] \sim w$ , where w is between x and y. These methods apply to either discrete or continuous attributes X. We begin by selecting two distant reference points  $x_0$  and  $x_{n+1}$  in X, where  $x_0 < x_{n+1}$ . These points may be either a worst and best outcome in X or some other convenient benchmarks. The task is to assess the utilities of the points  $x_0 < x_1 < \dots < x_{n+1}$  using one of the following methods.

5.3(a) Extreme gambles (or farthest neighbors):  $[x_{n+1}, \underline{\alpha_1}, x_0] \sim x_1$ 

This method uses the reference points of the attribute X as the extremes in every gamble. If  $u(x_0) \equiv 0$  and  $u(x_{n+1}) \equiv 1$ , then obviously  $u(x_1) = \alpha_1$ . Thus the elicited indifference probabilities themselves are the utilities of the  $x_1$  values. If  $x_0$  and  $x_{n+1}$  are not the endpoints of X and it is necessary to find the utilities of points above  $x_{n+1}$  or below  $x_0$ , one can ask additional questions of the form  $[y, \alpha, x_0] \sim x_{n+1}$  for  $y > x_{n+1}$  or  $[x_{n+1}, \alpha, y] \sim x_0$  for  $y < x_0$ .

Although the extreme gambles method is easy to use [39, 72, 74, 83, 85, 136], there are susceptibilities to serial dependence in the responses [111, 169] and to biases from range effects if  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{n+1}$  are too extreme [108, 109]. An analyst might try to alleviate these potential problems by permuting the sequence 1, 2, ..., n of comparisons and taking other precautions to debias the responses [36, 37, 38, 156].

5.3(b) Adjacent gambles (or nearest neighbors):  $[x_{i+1}, \alpha_i, x_{i-1}] \sim x_i$ 

Instead of possibly using gambles over the best and worst values, this method uses gambles over the "locally best and worst" values for each  $x_i$  [114, p. 307]. Each of the individual's n responses generates an equation of the form  $u(x_i) = \alpha_i u(x_{i+1}) + (1 - \alpha_i) u(x_{i-1})$ . With  $u(x_0) \equiv 0$ ,  $u(x_{n+1}) \equiv 1$ ,  $f_0 \equiv 1$ , and  $f_1 \equiv (1 - \alpha_i)/\alpha_i$ , Novick and Lindley [114] solve the resulting system of n equations in n unknowns to get

$$u(x_{i}) = \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \prod_{k=0}^{j} f_{k} / \sum_{j=0}^{n} \prod_{k=0}^{j} f_{k}, \quad \text{for } i = 1, ..., n. \quad (6)$$

<sup>3</sup>Unless stated otherwise, the index i goes from 1 to n.

A key advantage of this method over the previous one is "provided we do not ask the subject to assess probabilities near zero or one (numerically large logodds), the utilities will be relatively insensitive to a lack of precision in probability assessments [114, p. 308]." Points outside the range are easily determined by additional comparisons of the form  $[y, \alpha, x_n] \sim x_{n+1}$  if  $y > x_{n+1}$  or  $[x_1, \alpha, y] \sim x_0$  if  $y < x_0$ .

Novick and Lindley recommend asking for additional comparisons, such as  $[x_{i+2}, \frac{\beta_1}{2}, x_{i-2}] \sim x_i$ , to provide consistency checks on the assessed utilities. Rather than having an individual revise earlier responses to eliminate inconsistencies, Novick and Lindley admit the inconsistencies and use a least-squares procedure to estimate a best-fitting utility function [30, 63, 146]. Novick et al. [112] describe an interactive computer program for eliciting an individual's responses and estimating a utility function using this approach. Other research on the adjacent gambles method is found in [83, 85, 89].

5.3(c) Assorted gambles: 
$$[x_{k_i}, \frac{\alpha_i}{1}, x_{j_i}] \sim x_i$$
, where  $j_i < i < k_i$ 

Although this method generalizes others in this category, the method has received no systematic treatment in the literature. In contrast to the previous methods, this method may require the numerical solution of n or more equations to determine  $u(x_1)$ , ...,  $u(x_n)$ . For this reason, the method requires further structure on the gamble comparisons before it would be appealing for field applications. For example, one method related to the multiplication method in 5.4(c) is the anchored gambles method  $[x_{i+1}, \alpha_i, x_0] \sim x_i$ , whose solution is straightforward. If  $u(x_0) \equiv 0$  and  $u(x_{n+1}) \equiv 1$ , then  $u(x_i) = \prod_{j=1}^n \alpha_j$ . In any case, the format of "assorted gambles" comparisons is quite appropriate for making consistency checks.

Probability equivalence methods offer several advantages over other methods of utility assessment. Since chaining of responses (i.e., the use of earlier responses in subsequent gamble comparisons) does not occur, serial dependence between comparisons can be sharply reduced with permuted sequences. Probability responses are less susceptible to risk distortions [64, 108, 109, 136], path dependence [169], and some other cognitive biases [67, 75]. Although many individuals find difficulty in making probability judgments [66, 77, 105, 115, 129], training procedures and aids are available [66, 91, 141, 147, 163, 166, 167, 168]. Moreover, the adjacent gambles method appears to be robust for probabilities not close to zero or one, so probability judgments need not be precise in that case.

#### 5.4 Value Equivalence Methods

Value equivalence methods ask for an indifference value x such that  $[\underline{x}, \alpha, y] \sim w$ . These methods assume a continuum of values in X so that an x exists satisfying this indifference relation. Usually  $\alpha$  equals 1/2 for convenience, though Karmarkar [77] and others [20, 64, 156] observe biases in the elicited utilities as  $\alpha$  is systematically varied. Since x and y are assumed to be positive and unrelated, it is not necessary to examine  $[x, \alpha, y] \sim w$  separately. A more complete treatment, however, would address the situations where x and y are both gains, both losses, or a gain and a loss [45, 49, 64, 120, 121, 139, 157].

For the most part, the following value equivalence methods have not appeared before in the utility literature.

5.4(a) Uniform sequence: 
$$[x_{i+1}, x_{i-1}] \sim x_i$$

In many measurement situations, it is helpful to construct a scale of equally-spaced values using a *uniform sequence* approach [59, 86, 123, 152]. There are two basic variations of this approach for gamble comparisons. The

bottom-up method begins by fixing  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_1$  not far apart in X with  $\mathbf{x}_0 < \mathbf{x}_1$ ; the method then obtains additional values from  $[\mathbf{x}_{1+1}, \mathbf{x}_{1-1}] \sim \mathbf{x}_1$  for  $i=1,\ldots,n$ . If  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_0) \equiv 0$  and  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1) \equiv 1$ , obviously  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1) = i$  so the values are equally-spaced in utility. Another variation is the top-down method which begins by fixing  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_1$  with  $\mathbf{x}_1 < \mathbf{x}_0$ . If  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_0) \equiv 0$  and  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1) = -1$ , then  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1) = -i$  for a top-down uniform sequence. These methods seem most appropriate for unidirectional attributes, like media exposure or waiting time, that are bounded from below or above in utility. Bipolar attributes, such as net assets, can employ both the bottom-up and the top-down methods to obtain a uniform sequence on X.

5.4(b) Balanced values:  $[x_1, x_1] \sim x_0$ , where  $u(x_0)$  and  $u(x_1)$  are known

This method is adapted from a scaling procedure reported by Guilford [59] and Horst [69]. Suppose that  $\{x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  is a uniform sequence anchored at a "neutral value"  $x_0$ ; for definiteness, let  $u(x_i) = i$  for  $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n$ . Although the top-down method might be used to construct a uniform sequence below  $x_0$ , the method of balanced values can also be used to derive  $u(x_i) = -i$ . Similarly, if the uniform sequence  $\{x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  has  $u(x_i) = -i$ , then the method of balanced values yields  $u(x_i) = i$ . This method can also provide consistency checks on equally-spaced utilities.

It is not necessary to assume that  $\{x_0, x_1, \dots, x_n\}$  is a uniform sequence to apply the method of balanced values. For example, if another procedure is used to find the utilities of these points, then this method gives  $u(x_1,) = 2u(x_0) - u(x_1)$ . Hence, the method can be used to find the utilities of several additional points in X.

5.4(c) Multiplication: 
$$[x_{i+1}, \alpha, x_0] \sim x_i$$

The multiplication method for comparing gambles is related to a ratio scaling procedure suggested by Galanter [55] and to the fractionation methods described in Torgerson [152]. Let  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_1$  be some reference points not far apart in X with  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_0) \equiv 0$ . The gamble comparisons above produce successive multiplications of utilities resulting in  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1) = (1/\alpha)^{1-1} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_1)$ . One can obviously generalize this method using probabilities  $\alpha_1$  instead of  $\alpha$ , but in most situations the probability is fixed at 1/2. For example, with  $\alpha = 1/2$  each  $\mathbf{x}_1$  has twice the utility of the previous point. Applications of such power functions are given in [39, 55, 86, 152]. This method is related to the anchored gambles method in 5.3(c) and to the fractionation methods described in Sections 5.5(b) and 6.2(c).

5.4(d) Equisection: find 
$$x_1$$
, ...,  $x_n$  such that  $[x_{i+1}, x_{i-1}] \sim x_i$ 

The equisection method for gamble comparisons is similar to a scaling procedure described by Torgerson [152] and others [39, 55]. Let  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{n+1}$  be distant reference points in X, where  $\mathbf{x}_0 < \mathbf{x}_{n+1}$ . The method asks an individual to divide the interval from  $\mathbf{x}_0$  to  $\mathbf{x}_{n+1}$  into n equal sections. For  $\mathbf{n}=2$ , the bisection method calls for  $\mathbf{x}_1$  such that  $[\mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_0] \sim \mathbf{x}_1$ ; successive bisections comprise the midpoint chaining method described later. For  $\mathbf{n}=3$ , the trisection method seeks  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_2$  such that the following relationships both hold.

$$[x_2, x_0] \sim x_1$$
 and  $[x_3, x_1] \sim x_2$  (7)

In specifying  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_2$  for the trisection method, an individual could use a

convergence procedure of adjusting the unit (i.e., a section length) until  $\{x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3\}$  forms a uniform sequence. Similarly, one can describe a quadrisection method for n = 4 or an n-section method in general.

Value equivalence methods appear to be useful tools for assessing utility functions, but further empirical research is needed to determine their strengths and weaknesses. The methods are simple analytically, but the use of chained responses in the sequences of gamble comparisons may have undesirable effects in some applications. On the other hand, value equivalence methods are not as susceptible to possible biases from range effects as the extreme value method of probability equivalence or the fractile method of certainty equivalence. An important question for further study, however, is the interpretation and effects of gains and losses in using value equivalence methods for utility assessment. This question also bears on other assessment methods.

### 5.5 Certainty Equivalence Methods

These methods ask an individual to specify a sure outcome w, called a certainty equivalent, for which  $[x, \alpha, y] \sim \underline{w}$ . Although weaker assumptions are possible, we assume a continuum of values in X so that w exists and strictly increasing preferences on X so that w is unique [39, 89].

Before discussing the fractile method, we fix a set of probabilities  $0 < \alpha_1 < \dots < \alpha_n < 1$  and select two reference points  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_\star$  in X where  $\mathbf{x}_0 < \mathbf{x}_\star$  with  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_0) \equiv 0$  and  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}_\star) \equiv 1$ .

5.5(a) Fractile: 
$$[x_*, \alpha_1, x_0] \sim \underline{x_1}$$

The fractile method has been described under a variety of names [2, 38-41, 68, 72, 83, 127, 135-137]. The method is easy to implement,

and utility calculations are immediate since  $u(x_i) = \alpha_i$ . Since the fractile method and the extreme gambles method of probability equivalence are so similar, they share many of the same advantages and disadvantages.

The fractile method often takes the endpoints of X as  $x_0$  and  $x_{\star}$ , because any points below  $x_0$  or above  $x_{\star}$  need to be determined by another assessment procedure. Biases from range effects can distort the certainty equivalents in many situations where the endpoints are far apart [83, 88, 108, 109, 136]. The fractile method may incur other biases from certainty effects [64, 155], distortions in risk behavior [64, 156, 169], and probabilities too close to zero or one [1, 76, 78, 98]. Despite these potential drawbacks, the fractile method is a popular assessment procedure.

# 5.5(b) Chaining methods: fractionation and midpoints

If previously elicited values are used in subsequent gamble comparisons, the responses are chained. In formal terms, let  $S_i$  denote the set of values elicited from an individual before the i-th response. Then  $S_i$  is defined recursively by  $S_i = S_{i-1} \cup \{x_{i-1}\}$  for  $i=1,\ldots,n$ , where  $S_0 \equiv \{x_{\star}\}$ . Thus for a given probability  $0 < \alpha_i < 1$  and values  $x_i, x_i, x_i \in S_i$ , the i-th comparison is  $[x_i, \alpha_i, x_i] \sim x_i$ . After each comparison, the new value  $x_i$  is easily assessed from  $u(x_i) = \alpha_i u(x_i) + (1 - \alpha_i) u(x_i)$ . Like a few other methods, chaining methods allow one to assess additional values one at a time until either enough points are available to estimate the utility function satisfactorily or the assessment process must be terminated for some reason. The number of responses does not have to be specified beforehand.

One example of chaining is the fractionation method, which is analogous to procedures described in Torgerson [152]. Let  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_1$  be two

reference points not far apart in X with  $u(x_0) \equiv 0$ . The fractionation method uses the following gamble comparisons.

$$[x_i, \alpha, x_0] \sim x_{i+1}$$
 (8)

Each value  $x_1$  has a fraction  $\alpha$  of the utility of the previous point, since (8) yields  $u(x_1) = \alpha^{1-1} u(x_1)$ . The fractionation method may be compared to the multiplication method in Section 5.4(c). If the probability  $\alpha = 1/2$ , then this method is a special case of the midpoint chaining method described next.

The midpoint chaining (or midvalue splitting) method has  $\alpha_i \equiv 1/2$ , so each comparison involves a bisection [24, 83, 104, 127]. A characteristic sequence for the midpoint chaining method is

Comparison 1: 
$$[x_{*}, x_{0}] \sim \underline{x_{1}},$$
Comparison 2:  $[x_{1}, x_{0}] \sim \underline{x_{2}},$ 
Comparison 3:  $[x_{*}, x_{2}] \sim x_{3},$ 
(9)

where  $x_0$  and  $x_*$  are as above. Note that  $u(x_1) = 1/2$ ,  $u(x_2) = 1/4$ , and  $u(x_3) = 3/4$ , and that further midpoints can be assessed similarly if needed. (One might compare this procedure with the quadrisection method or the fractile method using  $\alpha_1 = 1/2$ ,  $\alpha_2 = 1/4$ , and  $\alpha_3 = 3/4$ , since all three methods yield the same assessed utilities.) Furthermore, one can make an additional comparison  $[x_2, x_3] \sim x_4$  as a consistency check to determine whether or not  $x_4 = x_1$ .

The midpoint chaining method has its share of drawbacks: it can suffer biases from certainty effects, serial dependence, range effects, distortions in risk behavior, and others. Krzysztofowicz and Duckstein [88] and Novick et al. [111] review several sources of potential biases in using the midpoint chaining method above.

gamble over the extreme values  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\star}$ , Krzysztofowicz and Duckstein [88] propose the variable range gamble method. This method first partitions the range from  $\mathbf{x}_0$  to  $\mathbf{x}_{\star}$  into two arbitrary subintervals and then applies the midpoint method separately to each subinterval. The utility function over the entire range is derived by "linking" the subintervals with a gamble comparison involving one elicited value from each subinterval [82, p. 198; 88]. An advantage of this approach is the avoidance of posing unrealistically extreme questions that can lead to strongly biased responses.

The certainty equivalence methods have been widely used because of their computational simplicity. Recent behavioral studies, however, have uncovered a variety of dysfunctional biases associated with these methods. Further research may provide improvements in these methods and reduce their susceptibility to some sources of biases. Hybrid assessment methods that combine different fundamental procedures may be one useful approach.

# 6. Further Methods in Utility Assessment

This section examines (1) hybrid methods that combine two or more basic methods for utility assessment, (2) paired-gamble methods of preference comparison, probability equivalence, and value equivalence, and (3) other approaches to utility assessment.

# 6.1 Hybrid Assessment Methods

Many of the basic assessment methods in Section 5 have sequences of gamble comparisons that generate triangular systems of equations from which one can immediately assess the utility of each successive point. The computational convenience of these methods is sometimes outweighed by assessment biases arising from several sources. In contrast, methods like adjacent gambles, equisection, etc., require a block of n comparisons before any utilities can be assessed; such methods appear less prone to certain forms of assessment bias. Computational simplicity is no longer paramount, however, with the development of interactive computer programs for utility assessment [84, 98, 110, 112, 114, 137, 140], so block methods are practical possibilities now.

One approach in examining block methods considers the coefficient matrix of the set of homogeneous equations generated by a particular sequence of gamble comparisons. This approach facilitates the design of hybrid utility assessment protocols from more basic methods, tests of the determinacy of a given sequence of comparisons, and the identification of serial dependence and other potential sources of bias. Work is in progress to develop this approach further.

As an illustration, we consider the variable range gamble (VRG) method in [88]. The VRG method yields an indeterminate coefficient matrix because the subintervals are not really linked together by the final midpoint comparison as claimed in [88]. This flaw is remedied, for example, by using a probability equivalence comparison between a gamble with one value from each subinterval and a standard given by the point which divides the two subintervals. Our revision links the subintervals and yields a determinate set of utilities. This modified VRG procedure is a hybrid of midpoint chaining and assorted

gambles comparisons that is designed to alleviate the extreme range biases characterizing midpoint chaining methods.

There are many possibilities for merging basic assessment methods to produce hybrid methods that are robust against different forms of bias. Promising directions include combining a midpoint chaining method with either an equisection method or the adjacent gambles method. One significant gap is the need for a way of identifying and measuring biases associated with various utility assessment methods, so hybrid designs can be better evaluated for their effectiveness.

#### 6.2 Paired-Gamble Methods

All standard-gamble methods suffer from a fundamental asymmetry in comparing a sure outcome with a risky alternative. Since individuals tend to disproportionately overvalue outcomes that are certain in comparison to outcomes that are only probable [154], standard-gamble comparisons are likely to skew a utility assessment. Therefore, one might consider comparisons involving pairs of gambles to eliminate possible biases from this certainty effect.

There is relatively little research on assessing utilities from paired-gamble comparisons. Most of the previous work involves preference comparisons; some research covers probability equivalence and value equivalence methods, but many of the following methods are presented for the first time.

6.2(a) Preference comparison: 
$$[x_i, \alpha_i, y_i] R_i [w_i, \beta_i, z_i]$$

The preference comparison method often uses only even-chance gambles,  $\alpha_i \equiv \beta_i \equiv 1/2$ . One use of this method is in constructing an ordered metric scale for utilities [18, 21, 38-41, 86, 123, 149]. Other researchers apply linear programming procedures to the constraints generated by the preference comparisons above to estimate a utility function [16, 20, 23, 104,

148]. Although the method offers some advantages in elicitation simplicity and bias reduction, the only reported applications are consistency checks and multiattribute independence tests [83].

6.2(b) Probability equivalence: 
$$[x_i, \alpha_i, y_i] \sim [w_i, \beta_i, z_i]$$
,

where both  $w_i$  and  $z_i$  are between  $x_i$  and  $y_i$ 

Further restrictions on the above gambles are imposed to simplify the assessments and obtain a determinate solution for the utilities. We begin as in Section 5.3 by specifying two distant reference points  $\mathbf{x}_0$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{n+1}$  in X. The task is to assess the utilities of the points  $\mathbf{x}_0 < \mathbf{x}_1 < \dots < \mathbf{x}_{n+1}$ . We illustrate only a few of the possibilities for such probability equivalence methods using paired-gamble comparisons.

- Extreme gamble:  $[x_{n+1}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_0] \sim [x_{i+1}, x_{i-1}]$
- Adjacent gambles:  $[x_{i+2}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_{i-2}] \sim [x_{i+1}, x_{i-1}]$
- Anchored gambles:  $[x_{i+1}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_0] \sim [x_i, x_0]$

These methods are generalizations of standard-gamble procedures with the same names in Section 5.3; many other generalizations are possible, too.

Some paired-gamble methods have no direct analogs among standard-gamble methods. For example, a simple restriction for probability equivalence comparisons is to *interlock* the gambles in each pair with  $\alpha_1 \equiv \beta_1$ . Some illustrations of this approach are the following methods.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Let  $x_{-1} \equiv x_0$  and  $x_{n+2} \equiv x_{n+1}$  for this method.

- Interlocking extreme gambles:  $[x_{n+1}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_0] \sim [x_{i+1}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_{i-1}]$
- Interlocking adjacent gambles:  $[x_{i+2}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_{i-2}] \sim [x_{i+1}, \underline{\alpha_i}, x_{i-1}]$

Novick, Dekeyrel, and Chuang [111, pp. 563-564] call the latter method the paired binary gamble (PBG) procedure and report on preliminary results of its usefulness.

The obvious hope is that the PBG procedure will avoid the certainty effect because the comparison is between two sets of gambles, and thus does not involve the for-sure option. We have used PBG in some informal assessments but have not yet been convinced of its usefulness. First, it is difficult even for experienced subjects. Fatigue and boredom are definite problems. We are not sure that there is no bias in that one situation always compares two adjacent states while the other always describes two states twice removed. We have not discarded this procedure, but we feel that refinements may be necessary if it is to be useful.

Further research on variations of probability equivalence methods using paired-gambles seems likely (see Section 6.3).

6.2(c) Value equivalence: 
$$[\underline{x_i}, \alpha_i, y_i] \sim [w_i, \beta_i, z_i]$$

There are several ways of further structuring the above gambles to facilitate utility assessment. One way is to have common probabilities,  $\alpha_i \equiv \beta_i \equiv 1/2$ . Davidson, Suppes, and Siegal [20] and Kneppreth, Gustafson, Leifer, and Johnson [85] report using gamble comparisons of the form  $[x_i, y_i] \sim [w_i, z_i]$ . This equal-differences method usually requires some additional comparisons to determine the utilities. A variation with the gamble  $[w_i, z_i] \equiv [w, z]$  in all comparisons is analogous to the balanced values method in 5.4(b). Other variations are based on the methods in Section 5.4.

Another approach in developing paired-gamble methods using value equivalence is to have common values,  $y_1 \equiv z_1 \equiv x_0$ . Let  $x_0$  and  $x_1$  be two reference points in X where  $x_0 < x_1$ ; then let  $u(x_0) \equiv 0$  and  $u(x_1) \equiv 1$ . Also, define  $\rho$  as the ratio of probabilities  $\beta/\alpha$ . The following anchored value method reduces to the multiplication standard-gamble method in 5.4(c) when  $\beta = 1$  or the fractionation standard-gamble method in 5.5(b) when  $\alpha = 1$ .

- Multiplication:  $[\underline{x_{i+1}}, \alpha, x_0] \sim [x_i, \beta, x_0]$  where  $\rho > 1$
- Fractionation:  $[\underline{x_{i+1}}, \alpha, x_0] \sim [x_i, \beta, x_0]$  where  $\rho < 1$

The utilities are easily computed from  $u(x_i) = \rho^{i-1}$ . Thus, the multiplication sequence  $x_i$  has increasing utility, while the fractionation sequence  $x_i$  has decreasing utility.

Not all paired-gamble methods are included in the above discussion, but the main procedures and a representative sample of possible variations are covered. A key question for further empirical research is whether the additional assessment effort required by these paired-gamble methods is worth the anticipated reduction in assessment bias.

#### 6.3 Other Approaches

Novick, Dekeyrel, and Chuang [111] are developing new assessment procedures for interactive computer implementation. They have experimented with hybrid methods that provide immediate consistency checks and alleviate some biases in the assessment process. For example, their *local coherence* (LC) procedure combines a standard-gamble and a paired-gamble in one format.

$$[x, \underline{\alpha}, y] \sim w \iff [x, \beta_1(\alpha), y] \sim [w, \beta_2(\alpha), y],$$
 (10)

where w is between x and y in X. The individual first uses a convergence procedure to determine the indifference probability for the standard-gamble comparison in (10). After a computer program [112] calculates the probabilities  $\beta_1(\alpha)$  and  $\beta_2(\alpha)$ , the individual is told that his response to the standard-gamble implies equivalence between the gambles displayed in (10). If the individual does not concur, then he can adjust  $\alpha$  until his preference judgments agree with the results in (10). Novick, Dekeyrel, and Chuang [111, p. 566] report that the LC procedure is a "powerful tool for locating the most desirable point in the probability range  $\alpha \pm .025$ " and suggest that the procedure is is useful in "largely eliminating anchoring and adjustment biases."

Novick, Dekeyrel, and Chuang describe a regional coherence (RC) procedure that combines two adjacent gambles comparisons to infer equivalences in two other standard-gamble comparisons. After responding with indifference probabilities for the first two comparisons, the computer program displays all four comparisons. Individuals may then adjust any two indifference probabilities at a time until the four displayed standard-gambles are consistent with their preferences.

# 7. Summary and Directions for Future Research

Table 3 summarizes all of the utility assessment methods described in Sections 5 and 6. Note that the index i goes from 1 to n in each case and that the assumptions behind each method are stated earlier in the paper.

#### Table 3 goes here

In conclusion, we mention some topics of on-going or prospective research in utility assessment. We expect to see further research in computer-aided utility assessment [84, 99, 110, 112, 137, 140]; consistency, coherence, and errors in judgment [16, 30, 37, 91, 94, 104, 106, 141, 147, 163, 167]; heuristics, biases, and debiasing [1, 35-37, 64, 75, 88, 91, 98, 108, 109, 127, 142, 155, 156]; display format and response mode effects [4, 15, 19, 58, 64, 67, 75-77, 92, 93, 95, 98, 105, 118-121, 129, 138-139, 153-157, 164, 169]; and related topics.

On the other hand, we anticipate research in developing alternate assessment approaches. The research on risk attitudes [62], strength-of-preference and relative risk [13, 33, 25, 26, 87, 162], and risk profiles [6, 60, 116, 165] represents an important direction for further investigation. Similarly, the current interest in generalizations and alternatives to expected utility theory is likely to have a significant effect on assessment procedures [11, 17, 19, 45, 46, 48, 76, 139, 157].

Prospective research topics might include the study of assessment procedures using gambles with three or more outcomes [27, 90, 119, 120, 141], the study of comparisons with three or more gambles [18, 101, 152], the estimation of utility functions with probability densities or other curves [14, 113, 137], extensions of utility assessment procedures to determine scaling constants and trade-offs in multiattribute decision problems [31, 34, 39, 63, 74, 83, 85, 88, 99-101], and many others.

I. Stendar	I. Standard-Gamble Methods	11. Patr	11. Paired-Camble Methode
1. Preference Comparison Mathods:	[x1, a1, y1] x1 w1	5. Preference Comparison Methods:	$[x_1, a_1, y_1] \frac{1}{R_1} [v_1, b_1, x_1]$
2. Probability Equivalence Methods:		6. Probability Equivalence Methods: $ \mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{a}_i, \mathbf{y}_j  \sim  \mathbf{v}_i, \mathbf{b}_i, \mathbf{s}_i $	$[x_1, a_1, y_1] \sim [u_1, b_1, x_1]$
a) Extreme gambles:	$I_{\mathbf{z}} \sim \left[0_{\mathbf{z}} \cdot \overline{I_{\mathbf{z}}} \cdot \overline{I_{\mathbf{z}}}\right]^{1+4}$		where both w and z are between x and y
b) Adjacent gambles:	$[x_{i+1}, \frac{1}{0_i}, x_{i-1}] \sim x_i$	a) Extreme gambles:	$[x_{n+1}, \frac{a_1}{1}, x_0] \sim [x_{1+1}, x_{1-1}]$
(Asorted gasbles)	$[\mathbf{z}_{\mathbf{k}_1}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_1}, \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{k}_1}] \sim \mathbf{z}_{\mathbf{k}_1}$ where $\mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{k}_1} < 1 < \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{k}_2}$	b) Adjacent gambles:4	$[x_{i+2}, \frac{a_i}{a_1}, x_{i-2}] \sim [x_{i+1}, x_{i-1}]$
c) Anchored gambles:	[R <sub>1+1</sub> , 9 <sub>1</sub> , x <sub>0</sub> ] ~ x <sub>1</sub>	c) Anchored gambles:	$[x_{1+1}, \frac{a_1}{a_1}, x_0] \sim (x_1, x_0)$
	1	d) Interlocking extreme gambles:	d) interlocking extreme gambles: $[x_{n+1}, \frac{a_1}{a_1}, x_0] \sim [x_{1+1}, \frac{a_1}{a_1}, x_{1-1}]$
3. Value Equivalence Nethods:		e) Interlocking adjacent gambles	e) Interlocking adjacent smalles: $[x, \dots, x, x] \sim [x, \dots, a, x, .]$
a) Uniform sequence:	$x_{x-1} = x_{t-1}$		, i-i, , i , i+i, , , z-i, , i , z+i, ,
b) belenced values:	$[\pi_1, \dots \pi_l] \sim \pi_0$ , for known $u(\pi_0)$ and $u(\pi_l)$	7. Value Equivalence Nethods:	$[x_{\underline{1}}, \alpha_{\underline{1}}, y_{\underline{1}}] = [u_{\underline{1}}, \beta_{\underline{1}}, c_{\underline{1}}]$
c) Maltiplication:		a) Equal differences:	$[x_{\underline{1}}, y_{\underline{1}}] \sim [v_{\underline{1}}, z_{\underline{1}}]$
d) Equipection:	find $\mathbf{z}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{z}_n$ such that $\{\mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \mathbf{x}_{i-1}\} \sim \mathbf{x}_i$	b) Anchored values:	$\{x_{1+1}, a, x_0\} \sim \{x_1, \theta, x_0\}$
(Mose	(bisection, trisection, quadrisection, and m-section)	(ma) t	(multiplication for a $<$ $\theta$ ; fractionation for a $>$ $\theta$ )
4. Certainty Equivalence Methods:			
a) Practile:	[x <sub>0</sub> , a <sub>1</sub> , x <sub>0</sub> ] ~ x <sub>1</sub>	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	
	i	bedom elder second eldeben bedilbed selection deals	bedeen although a

8. Block methods: Modified variable range gamble method

IV. Other Methods

9. Coherence methods: Local and regional

 $[\pi_{a},\ \pi_{0}] = \pi_{\underline{1}},\ [\pi_{1},\ \pi_{0}] = \underline{\pi_{\underline{2}}},\ [\pi_{a},\ \pi_{\underline{2}}] = \underline{\pi_{\underline{3}}}.$ 

c) Midpoint chaining:

(Chaining methods) b) Practionation:

[H1. 0. N0] " H1+1

# 8. Acknowledgements

This research was supported in part by the Office of Naval Research under Contract #N00014-80-C-0897, Task #NR-277-258.

#### References

- 1. Allais, M. and Hagen, O. (eds.), Expected Utility Hypotheses and the Allais Paradox, Reidel, Dordrecht, Holland, 1979.
- Anderson, J.R., Dillion, J.L., and Hardaker, B., Agricultural Decision Analysis, Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, 1977.
- 3. Arrow, K.J., Essays in the Theory of Risk-Bearing, Markham, Chicago, Illinois, 1971.
- 4. Aschenbrenner, K.M., "Efficient Sets, Decision Heuristics, and Single-Peaked Preferences," *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, Vol. 23 (1981), pp. 227-256.
- 5. Balch, M.S., McFadden, D., and Wu, S. (eds.), Essays on Economic Behavior Under Uncertainty, North-Holland, Amsterdam, Holland, 1974.
- Bawa, V.S., "Stochastic Dominance: A Research Bibliography," Economics
   Discussion Paper 196, Bell Telephone Laboratories, Murray Hill, New
   Jersey, 1981.
- 7. Becker, G.M., "Decision Making: Objective Measures of Subjective Probability and Utility," Psychological Review, Vol. 69 (1962), pp. 136-148.
- 8. Becker, G.M., DeGroot, M.H., and Marschak, J., "Stochastic Models of Choice Behavior," *Behavioral Science*, Vol. 8 (1963), pp. 41-55.
- Becker, G.M., DeGroot, M.H., and Marschak, J., "Measuring Utility by a Single-Response Sequential Method," Behavioral Science, Vol. 9 (1964), pp. 226-232.
- 10. Becker, G.M. and McClintock, C.G., "Value: Behavioral Decision Theory,"

  Annual Review of Psychology, Vol. 18 (1967), pp. 237-286.
- 11. Bell, D.E., "Regret in Decision Making Under Uncertainty," Operations Research, to appear.
- 12. Bell, D.E., Keeney, R.L., and Raiffa, H. (eds.), Conflicting Objectives in Decisions, Wiley, New York, 1977.
- 13. Bell, D.E. and Raiffa, H., "Marginal Value and Intrinsic Risk Aversion," Working Paper HBS 79-65, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts, 1979.
- 14. Berhold, M.H., "The Use of Distribution Functions to Represent Utility Functions," Management Science, Vol. 19 (1973), pp. 825-829.
- 15. Bettman, J.R., An Information Processing Theory of Consumer Choice, Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts, 1979.

- 16. Bradley, S.P. and Frey, S.C., Jr., "Bounds for Preference Function Assessment," Management Science, Vol. 21 (1975), pp. 1308-1319.
- 17. Chew, S.H. and MacCrimmon, K.R., "Alpha-Nu Choice Theory: A Generalization of Expected Utility Theory," Working Paper 669, Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada (1979).
- 18. Coombs, C., A Theory of Data, Wiley, New York, 1964.
- 19. Cyert, R.M. and DeGroot, M.H., "Adaptive Utility," in R.H. Day and T. Groves (eds.), Adaptive Economic Models, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- 20. Davidson, D., Suppes, P., and Siegel, S., Decision Making: An Experimental Approach, Stanford University Press, Stanford, California, 1957.
- 21. Debreu, G., "Cardinal Utility for Even-Chance Mixtures of Pairs of Sure Prospects," Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 26 (1959), pp. 174-177.
- 22. Debreu, G., "Continuity Properties of Paretian Utility," International Economic Review, Vol. 5 (1964), pp. 285-293.
- 23. DeGroot, M.H., "Some Comments on the Experimental Measurement of Utility," Behavioral Science, Vol. 8 (1963), pp. 146-149.
- 24. DeGroot, M.H., Optimal Statistical Decisions, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1970.
- 25. Dyer, J.S. and Sarin, R., "Measurable Multiattribute Value Functions," Operations Research, Vol. 27 (1979), pp. 810-822.
- 26. Dyer, J.S. and Sarin, R., "Relative Risk Aversion," Management Science, to appear.
- 27. Edwards, W., "Behavioral Decision Theory," Are 7. Review of Psychology, Vol. 12 (1961), pp. 473-498.
- 28. Edwards, W., "How to Use Multiattribute Utility Measurement for Social Decision Making," IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Vol. SMC-7 (1977), pp. 326-340.
- 29. Einhorn, H.J. and Hogarth, R.M., "Behavioral Decision Theory: Process of Judgment and Choice," *Annual Review of Psychology*, Vol. 32 (1981), pp. 53-88.
- 30. Eliashberg, J. and Hauser, J.R., "Measurement Error Theories for von Neumann-Morgenstern Utility Functions," Discussion Paper 498, Center for Mathematical Studies in Economics and Management Science, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois (1981).
- 31. Farquhar, P.H., "A Survey of Multiattribute Utility Theory and Applications," in M.K. Starr and M. Zeleny (eds.), Multiple Criteria Decision Making, TIMS Studies in the Management Sciences, Vol. 6 (1977), pp. 59-89.

- 32. Farquhar, P.H., "Advances in Multiattribute Utility Theory," Theory and Decision, Vol. 12 (1980), pp. 381-394.
- 33. Fischer, G.W., "Convergent Validation of Decomposed Multi-Attribute Utility Assessment Procedures for Risky and Riskless Decisions," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 18 (1977), pp. 295-315.
- 34. Fischer, G.W., "Utility Models for Multiple Objective Decisions: Do They Accurately Represent Human Preferences," *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 10 (1979), pp. 451-479.
- 35. Fischhoff, B., "Clinical Decision Analysis," Operations Research, Vol. 28 (1980), pp. 28-43.
- 36. Fischhoff, B., "Debiasing," in D. Kahneman, P. Slovic, and A. Tversky (eds), Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1982, pp. 422-444.
- 37. Fischhoff, B., Slovic, P., and Lichtenstein, S., "Knowing What You Want: Measuring Labile Values," in T.S. Wallsten (ed.), Cognitive Processes in Choice and Decision Behavior, Erlbaum, Hillsdale, New Jersey, 1980.
- 38. Fishburn, P.C., Decision and Value Theory, Wiley, New York, 1964.
- 39. Fishburn, P.C., "Methods of Estimating Additive Utilities," Management Science, Vol. 13 (1967), pp. 435-453.
- 40. Fishburn, P.C., "Utility Theory," Management Science, Vol. 14 (1968), pp. 335-378.
- 41. Fishburn, P.C., Utility Theory for Decision Making, Wiley, New York, 1970.
- 42. Fishburn, P.C., "Unbounded Expected Utility," Annals of Statistics, Vol. 3 (1975), pp. 884-896.
- 43. Fishburn, P.C., "A Theory of Subjective Expected Utility with Vague Preferences," Theory and Decision, Vol. 6 (1975), pp. 287-310.
- 44. Fishburn, P.C., "Unbounded Utility Functions in Expected Utility Theory,"

  Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 90 (1976), pp. 162-168.
- 45. Fishburn, P.C., "Mean-Risk Analysis with Risk Associated with Below Target Returns," American Economic Review, Vol. 67 (1977), pp. 116-126.
- 46. Fishburn, P.C., "A Probabilistic Expected Utility Theory of Risky Binary Choices," International Economic Review, Vol. 19 (1978), pp. 633-646.
- 47. Fishburn, P.C., "Subjective Expected Utility: A Review of Normative Theories," Theory and Decision, Vol. 13 (1981), pp. 139-199.
- 48. Fishburn, P.C., "Transitive Measurable Utility," Economics Discussion
  Paper 224, Bell Telephone Laboratories, Murray Hill, New Jersey, 1981.

- 49. Fishburn, P.C., "Foundations of Risk Measurement. II. Effects of Gains on Risk," Economics Discussion Paper, Bell Telephone Laboratories, Murray Hill, New Jersey, 1982.
- 50. Fishburn, P.C., Foundations of Expected Utility Theory, Reidel, Dordrecht, Holland, forthcoming.
- 51. Fishburn, P.C. and Kochenberger, G.A., "Two-Piece von Neumann-Morgenstern Utility Functions," *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 10 (1979), pp. 503-518.
- 52. Foldes, L., "Expected Utility and Continuity," Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 39 (1972), pp. 407-421.
- 53. Friedman, M. and Savage, L.J., "The Utility Analysis of Choices Involving Risk," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 56 (1948), pp. 279-304.
- 54. Friedman, M. and Savage, L.J., "The Expected Utility Hypothesis and the Measurement of Utility," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 60 (1952), pp. 463-474.
- 55. Galanter, E., "The Direct Measurement of Utility and Subjective Probability,"

  American Journal of Psychology, ol. 75 (1962), pp. 208-220.
- 56. Grandmont, J.M., "Continuity Properties of a von Neumann-Morgenstern Utility," Journal of Economic Theory, Vol. 4 (1972), pp. 45-57.
- 57. Green, P.C., "Risk Attitudes and Chemical Investment Decisions," *Chemical Engineering Progress*, Vol. 59 (1963), pp. 35-40.
- 58. Grether, D.M., and Plott, C.R., "Economic Theory of Choice and the Preference Reversal Phenomenon," American Economic Review, Vol. 69 (1979), pp. 623-638.
- 59. Guilford, J.P., Psychometric Methods, 2nd edition, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1954.
- 60. Hammond, J.S., "Simplifying the Choice Between Uncertain Prospects,"

  Management Science, Vol 20 (1974), pp. 1047-1072.
- 61. Hammond, K.R., Rohrbaugh, J., and Mumpower, J., Human Judgment and Decision Making: Theories, Methods, and Procedures, Praeger, New York, 1980.
- 62. Harvey, C.M., "Conditions on Risk Attitude for a Single Attribute," Management Science, Vol. 27 (1981), pp. 190-203.
- 63. Hauser, J.R. and Urban, G.L., "Assessment of Attribute Importance and Consumer Utility Functions: von Neumann-Morgenstern Theory Applied to Consumer Behavior," *Journal of Consumer Research*, Vol. 5 (1979), pp. 251-262.
- 64. Hershey, J.C., Kunreuther, H.C., and Schoemaker, P.J.H., "Sources of Bias in Assessment Procedures for Utility Functions," Management Science, Vol. 28 (1982), to appear.

- 65. Herstein, I.N. and Milnor, J., "An Axiomatic Approach to Measurable Utility," Econometrica, Vol. 21 (1953), pp. 291-297.
- 66. Hogarth, R.M., "Cognitive Processes and the Assessment of Subjective Probability Distributions," Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 70 (1975), pp. 271-294.
- 67. Hogarth, R.M., Judgment and Choice: The Psychology of Decision, Wiley, New York, 1980.
- 68. Holloway, C.A., Decision Making Under Uncertainty: Models and Choices, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1979.
- 69. Horst, P., "A Method for Determining the Absolute Affective Value of a Series of Stimulus Situations," *Journal of Educational Psychology*, Vol. 23 (1932), pp. 418-440.
- 70. Huber, G.F., "Methods for Quantifying Subjective Probabilities and Multiattribute Utilities," *Decision Sciences*, Vol. 5 (1974), pp. 430-458.
- 71. Huber, G.F., "Multiattribute Utility Models: A Review of Field and Field-like Studies," Management Science, Vol. 20 (1974), pp. 1393-1402.
- 72. Hull, J., Moore, P.G., and Thomas, H., "Utility and Its Measurement,"

  Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A, Vol. 136 (1973),

  pp. 226-247.
- 73. Jensen, N.E., "An Introduction to Bernoullian Utility Theory. I. Utility Functions," Swedish Journal of Economics, Vol. 69 (1967), pp. 163-183.
- 74. Johnson, E.M. and Huber, G.P., "The Technology of Utility Assessment,"

  IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Vol. SMC-7 (1977),
  pp. 311-325.
- 75. Kahneman, D., Slovic, P., and Tversky, A. (eds), Judgment under Uncertainty:
  Heuristics and Biases, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1982.
- 76. Kahneman, D. and Tversky, A., "Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision Under Risk," *Econometrica*, Vol. 47 (1979), pp. 263-291.
- 77. Karmarkar, U.S., "Subjectively Weighted Utility: A Descriptive Extension of the Expected Utility Model," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 21 (1978), pp. 61-72.
- 78. Keelin, T.W., "A Parametric Representation of Additive Value Functions," Management Science, Vol. 27 (1981), pp. 1200-1208.
- 79. Keenan, J., "The Existence of Expected Utility Maximizing Decisions when Utility is Unbounded," *Econometrica*, Vol. 49 (1981), pp. 215-218.
- 80. Keeney, R.L., "An Illustrated Procedure for Assessing Multiattributed Utility Functions," Sloan Management Review, Vol. 14 (1972), pp. 37-50.

- 81. Keeney, R.L., "The Art of Assessing Multiattribute Utility Functions," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 19 (1977), pp. 267-310.
- 82. Keeney, R.L., "Decision Analysis: State of the Field," Operations Research, to appear.
- 83. Keeney, R.L. and Raiffa, H., Decisions with Multiple Objectives: Preferences and Value Tradeoffs, Wiley, New York, 1976.
- 84. Keeney, R.L. and Sicherman, A., "Assessing and Analyzing Preferences Concerning Multiple Objectives: An Interactive Approach," *Behavioral Science*, Vol. 21 (1976), pp. 173-182.
- 85. Kneppreth, N.P., Gustafson, D.H., Leifer, R.P., and Johnson, E.M., "Techniques for the Assessment of Worth," Technical Paper 254, U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences, Arlington, Virginia, 1974.
- 86. Krantz, D.H., Luce, R.D., Suppes, P., and Tversky, A., Foundations of Measurement, Vol. I, Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- 87. Krzysztofowicz, R., "Strength of Preference and Risk Attitude in Utility Measurement," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, to appear.
- 88. Krzysztofowicz, R. and Duckstein, L., "Assessment Errors in Multiattribute Utility Functions," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 26 (1980), pp. 326-348.
- 89. LaValle, I.H., Fundamentals of Decision Analysis, Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, New York, 1978.
- 90. Lichtenstein, S., "Bases for Preferences Among Three-Outcome Bets," Journal of Experimental Psychology, Vol. 69 (1965), pp. 162-169.
- 91. Lichtenstein, S., Fischhoff, B., and Phillips, L.D., "Calibration of Probabilities: The State of the Art to 1980," in D. Kahneman, P. Slovic, and A. Tversky (eds.), Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1982, pp. 306-334.
- 92. Lichtenstein, S. and Slovic, P., "Reversals of Preference Between Bids and Choices in Gambling Decisions," *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, Vol. 89 (1971), pp. 46-55.
- 93. Lichtenstein, S. and Slovic, P., "Response-Induced Reversals of Preference in Gambling: An Extended Replication in Las Vegas," Journal of Experimental Psychology, Vol. 101 (1973), pp. 16-20.
- 94. Lindley, D.V., Tversky, A., and Brown, R.V., "On the Reconciliation of Probability Assessments," *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A*, Vol. 142 (1979), pp. 146-180.
- 95. Lindman, H.R., "Inconsistent Preferences Among Gambles," Journal of Experimental Psychology, Vol. 89 (1971), pp. 390-397.

- 96. Luce, R.D. and Raiffa, H., Games and Decisions: Introduction and Critical Survey, Wiley, New York, 1957.
- 97. Luce, R.D. and Suppes, P., "Preference, Utility, and Subjective Probability," in R.D. Luce, R.R. Bush, and E. Galanter (eds.), Handbook of Mathematical Psychology, Vol. 3, Wiley, New York, 1965, pp. 250-410.
- 98. MacCrimmon, K.R. and Larsson, S., "Utility Theory: Axioms versus 'Paradoxes'," in M. Allais and O. Hagen (eds.), Expected Utility and the Allais Paradox, Reidel, Dordrecht, Holland, 1979, pp. 333-409.
- 99. MacCrimmon, K.R. and Siu, J.K., "Making Trade-Offs," Decision Sciences, Vol. 5 '1974), pp. 680-704.
- 100. MacCrimmon, K.R. and Toda, M., "The Experimental Determination of Indifference Curves," Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 36 (1969), pp. 433-451.
- 101. MacCrimmon, K.R. and Wehrung, D.A., "Trade-Off Analysis: The Indifference and Preferred Proportion Approaches," in D.E. Bell, R.L. Keeney, and H. Raiffa (eds.), Conflicting Objectives in Decisions, Wiley, New York, 1977, pp. 123-147.
- 102. Machina, M., "Expected Utility Analysis without the Independence Axiom," Econometrica, Vol. 50 (1982), pp. 277-323.
- 103. Marschak, J., "Rational Behavior, Uncertain Prospects, and Measurable Utility," Econometrica, Vol. 18 (1950), pp. 111-141.
- 104. Meyer, R.F. and Pratt, J.W., "The Consistent Assessment and Fairing of Preference Functions," *IEEE Transactions on Systems Science and Cybernetics*, Vol. SSC-4 (1968), pp. 270-278.
- 105. Moore, P.G., "The Manager's Struggles with Uncertainty," Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A, Vol. 140 (1977), pp. 129-165.
- 106. Morris, P.A., "Combining Expert Judgments: A Bayesian Approach," Management Science, Vol. 23 (1977), pp. 679-693.
- 107. Mosteller, F. and Nogee, P., "An Experimental Measurement of Utility,"

  Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 59 (1951), pp. 371-404.
- 108. Myers, J.L. and Katz, L., "Range of Payoffs and Feedback in Risk Taking," Psychological Reports, Vol. 10 (1962), pp. 483-486.
- 109. Myers, J.L. and Sadler, E., "Effects of Range of Payoffs as a Variable in Risk Taking," Journal of Experimental Psychology, Vol. 60 (1960), pp. 306-309.
- 110. Nair, K. and Sicherman, A., "Environmental Assessment Methodology:
  Solar Power Plant Applications, Volume 4: Decsion Analysis Computer
  Program," Report ER-1070, Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto,
  California, 1979.

- 111. Novick, M.R., Dekeyrel, D.F., and Chuang, D.T., "Local and Regional Coherence Utility Assessment Procedures," Bayesian Statistics, Proceedings of the First International Meeting, University Press, Valencia, Spain, 1981, pp. 557-568.
- 112. Novick, M.R., Issacs, G.L., Hamer, R., Chen, J., Chuang, D., Woodworth, G., Molenaar, I., Lewis C., and Libby, D., Manual for the Computer-Assisted Data Analysis (CADA) Monitor, University of Iowa, Iowa City, Iowa, 1980.
- 113. Novick, M.R. and Lindley, D.V., "The Use of More Realistic Utility Functions in Educational Applications," *Journal of Educational Measurement*, Vol. 15 (1978), pp. 181-191.
- 114. Novick, M.R. and Lindley, D.V., "Fixed-State Assessment of Utility Functions," *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, Vol. 74 (1979), pp. 306-311.
- 115. Officer, R.R. and Halter, A.N., "Utility Analysis in a Practical Setting,"

  American Journal of Agricultural Economics, Vol. 50 (1968), pp. 257-277.
- 116. Oksman, W., "Choosing Among Risk Profiles," Case No. 9-177-237, Harvard Business School, Boston, Massachusetts, 1978.
- 117. Operations Research, Vol. 28, No. 1 (1980), Special Issue on Decision Analysis.
- 118. Payne, J.W., "Alternative Approaches to Decision Making Under Risk: Moments versus Risk Dimensions," Psychological Bulletin, Vol. 80 (1973), pp. 439-453.
- 119. Payne, J.W., "Task Complexity and Contingent Processing in Decision Making:
  An Information Search and Protocol Analysis," Organizational Behavior and
  Human Performance, Vol. 16 (1976), pp. 366-387.
- 120. Payne, J.W., Laughhunn, D.J., and Crum, R., "Translation of Gambles and Aspiration Level Effects in Risky Choice Behavior," *Management Science*, Vol. 26 (1980), pp. 1039-1060.
- 121. Payne, J.W., Laughhunn, D.J., and Crum R., "Further Tests on Aspiration Level Effects in Risky Choice Behavior," Management Science, Vol. 27 (1981), pp. 953-958.
- 122. Pfanzagl, J., "A General Theory of Measurement Applications to Utility,"

  Naval Research Logistics Quarterly, Vol. 6 (1959), pp. 283-294.
- 123. Pfanzagl, J., Theory of Measurement, Wiley, New York, 1968.
- 124. Pratt, J.W., "Risk Aversion in the Small and in the Large," Econometrica, Vol. 32 (1964), pp. 122-136.
- 125. Pratt, J.W., Raiffa, H., and Schlaifer, R., "The Foundations of Decision under Uncertainty," Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 59 (1964), pp. 353-375.

- 126. Pratt, J.W., Raiffa, H., and Schlaifer, R., Introduction to Statistical Decision Theory, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1965.
- 127. Raiffa, H., Decision Analysis: Introductory Lectures on Choices Under Uncertainty, Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts, 1968.
- 128. Rapoport, A. and Wallsten, T.S., "Individual Decision Behavior, Annual Review of Psychology, Vol. 23 (1972), pp. 131-176.
- 129. Ronen, J., "Effects of Some Probability Displays on Choices," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 9 (1973), pp. 1-15.
- 130. Ross, S.A., "Some Stronger Measures of Risk Aversion in the Small and the Large with Applications," *Econometrica*, Vol. 49 (1981), pp. 621-638.
- 131. Rowe, W.D., An Anatomy of Risk, Wiley, New York, 1977.
- 132. Sarin, R.K., "Interactive Evaluation and Bound Procedure for Selecting Multi-Attributed Alternatives," in M.K. Starr and M. Zeleny (eds.), Multiple Criteria Decision Making, TIMS Studies in the Management Sciences, Vol. 6 (1977), pp. 211-224.
- 133. Sarin, R., "Strength of Preference and Risky Choice," Operations Research, to appear.
- 134. Savage, L.J., The Foundations of Statistics, Wiley, New York, 1954.
- 135. Schlaifer, R., Probability and Statistics for Business Decisions, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1959.
- 136. Schlaifer, R., Analysis of Decisions Under Uncertainty, McGraw-Hil', New York, 1969.
- 137. Schlaifer, R., Computer Programs for Elementary Decision Analysis, Division of Research, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts, 1971.
- 138. Schoemaker, P.J.H., Experiments on Decisions Under Risk: The Expected Utility Hypothesis, Martinus Nijhoff, Boston, Massachusetts, 1980.
- 139. Schoemaker, P.J.H., "The Expected Utility Model: Its Variants, Purposes, Evidence, and Limitations," Journal of Economic Literature, to appear.
- 140. Seo, F., Sakawa, M., Takanashi, H., Nakagami, K., and Horiyama, H., "An Interactive Computer Program for Multiattribute Utility Analysis," GE18-1890-0, Tokyo Scientific Center, IBM, Tokyo, Japan, 1978.
- 141. Shuford, E.H. and Brown, T.A., "Rationale of Computer-Administered Admissible Probability Measurement," R-1371-ARPA, The RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, California, 1974.
- 142. Slovic, P., Fischhoff, B., and Lichtenstein, S., "Behavioral Decision Theory,"

  Annual Review of Psychology, Vol. 28 (1977), pp. 1-39.

- 143. Slovic, P. and Lichtenstein, S., "Relative Importance of Probabilities and Payoffs in Risk Taking," *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, Vol. 78 (1968), pp. 1-18.
- 144. Slovic, P. and Lichtenstein, S., "Comparison of Bayesian and Regression Approaches to the Study of Information Processing in Judgment,"

  Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, Vol. 6 (1971),

  pp. 649-744.
- 145. Slovic, P. and Tversky, A., "Who Accepts Savage's Axiom?" Behavioral Science, Vol. 19 (1974), pp. 368-373.
- 146. Spetzler, C.S., "The Development of a Corporate Risk Policy for Capital Investment Decisions," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Science, and Cybernetics*, Vol. SSC-4 (1968), pp. 279-300.
- 147. Spetzler, C.S. and von Holstein, C.A., "Probability Encoding in Decision Analysis," Management Science, Vol. 22 (1975), pp. 340-358.
- 148. Suppes, P. and Walsh, K., "A Non-Linear Model for the Experimental Measurement of Utility," *Behavioral Science*, Vol. 4 (1959), pp. 204-211.
- 149. Suppes, P. and Winet, M., "An Axiomatization of Utility Based on the Notion of Utility Differences," Management Science, Vol. 1 (1955), pp. 259-270.
- 150. Swalm, R.O., "Utility Theory Insights into Risk Taking," Harvard Business Review (1966), pp. 123-136.
- 151. Toda, M. and MacCrimmon, K.R., "The Efficient Determination of True Preference Equivalences," in H. Sauermann (ed.), Contribution to Experimental Economics, J.C.B. Mohr and P. Sieback, Germany, 1972, pp. 560-584.
- 152. Torgerson, W.S., Theory and Methods of Scaling, Wiley, New York, 1958.
- 153. Tversky, A., "Additivity, Utility, and Subjective Probability," Journal of Mathematical Psychology, Vol. 4 (1967), pp. 175-202.
- 154. Tversky, A., "Intransitivity of Preferences," *Psychological Review*, Vol. 76 (1969), pp. 31-48.
- 155. Tversky, A., "On the Elicitation of Preference: Descriptive and Prescriptive Considerations," in D.E. Bell, R.L. Keeney, and H. Raiffa (eds.), Conflicting Objectives in Decisions, Wiley, New York, 1977, pp. 209-219.
- 156. Tversky, A. and Kahneman, D., "Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases," Science, Vol. 185 (1974), pp. 1124-1131.
- 157. Tversky, A. and Kahneman, D., "The Framing of Decisions and the Psychology of Choice," Science, Vol. 211 (1981), pp. 453-458.
- 158. Tversky, A. and Sattath, S., "Preference Trees," Psychological Review, Vol. 86 (1979), pp. 542-573.

- 159. van der Schoot, G.P., "A Mathematical Procedure for Selecting Among Alternative Utility Functions," unpublished master's thesis, Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 1981.
- 160. Vedder, J.N., "Multiattribute Decision Making under Uncertainty Using Bounded Intervals," in J.L. Cochrane and M. Zeleny (eds.), Multiple Criteria Decision Making, University of South Carolina Press, Columbia, South Carolina, 1973, pp. 93-107.
- 161. von Neumann, J. and Morgenstern, O., Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, 2nd ed., Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1947.
- 162. von Winterfeldt, D., Barron, F.H., and Fischer, G.W., "Theoretical and Empirical Relationships Between Risky and Riskless Utility Functions," Social Science Research Institute, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California, 1980.
- 163. Wallsten, T.S. and Budescu, D.V., "Encoding Subjective Probabilities: A Psychological and Psychometric Review," unpublished report, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, 1980.
- 164. Wehrung, D.A., MacCrimmon, K.R., and Brothers, K.M., "Utility Measures: Comparisons of Domains, Stability, and Equivalence Procedures," Working Paper 603, Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 1980.
- 165. Whitmore, G.A. and Findlay, M.C. (eds.), Stochastic Dominance: An Approach to Decision Making Under Risk, Heath, Lexington, Massachusetts, 1978.
- 166. Winkler, R.L., "The Assessment of Prior Distributions in Bayesian Analysis,"

  Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 62 (1967),

  pp. 776-800.
- 167. Winkler, R.L., "The Quantification of Judgment: Some Methodological Suggestions," Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 62 (1967), pp. 1105-1120.
- 168. Winkler, R.L. and Murphy, A.H., "Good Probability Assessors," Journal of Applied Meterology, Vol. 7 (1968), pp. 751-758.
- 169. Zagorski, M.A., "Risky Decision: Attention and Path Dependency as a Function of Response Mode," Acta Psychologica, Vol. 49 (1981), pp. 171-183.
- 170. Zeckhauser, R. and Keeler, E., "Another Type of Risk Aversion," *Econometrica*, Vol. 38 (1970), pp. 661-665.

### ONR DISTRIBUTION LIST

Mr. J.R. Simpson, Scientific Officer Mathematics Group, Code 411-MA Office of Naval Research 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217

Dr. Stuart Brodsky, Group Leader Mathematics Group, Code 411-MA Office of Naval Research 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217

Dr. Martin A. Tolcott, Director Engineering Psychology Programs Office of Naval Research 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217

Mr. Christal Grisham
ONR Resident Representative
University of California
239 Campbell Hall
Berkeley, CA 94720

Defense Documentation Center Cameron Station, Building 5 Alexandria, VA 22314

Naval Research Laboratory Code 2627 Washington, DC 20375

Office of Naval Research Branch Office 1030 East Green Street Pasadena, CA 91106

Professor Kenneth J. Arrow Department of Economics Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305

Professor F. Hutton Barron School of Business 311 Summerfield Hall University of Kansas Lawrence, Kansas 66045 Professor David E. Bell Grad. School of Business Administration Harvard University Boston, MA 02163

Professor Samuel Bodily The Darden School University of Virginia P.O. Box 6550 Charlottesville, VA 22906

Dr. Dean W. Boyd Decision Focus, Inc. 5 Palo Alto Square, Suite 410 Palo Alto, CA 94304

Dr. Horace Brock
SRI International
Decision Analysis Group
333 Ravenswood Avenue
Menlo Park, CA 94025

Dr. Rex V. Brown
Decision Science Consortium
7700 Leesburg Pike, Suite 421
Falls Church, VA 22043

Professor Derek W. Bunn
Dept. of Engineering Science
University of Oxford
Parks Road
Oxford, OX1 3PJ
ENGLAND

Professor Soo Hong Chew Department of Economics, Bldg. #23 College of Business & Public Admin. The University of Arizona Tucson, Arizona 85721

Professor Eric K. Clemons Dept. of Decision Sciences, CC The Wharton School University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104 Professor Jared L. Cohon
Dept. of Geol. & Environ. Engineering
Johns Hopkins University
Baltimore, MD 21218

Professor William W. Cooper Graduate School of Business, 200E, BEB University of Texas at Austin Austin, Texas 78712

Professor Norman C. Dalkey School of Engrg & Applied Sci. Univ. of Calif. at Los Angeles Los Angeles, CA 90024

Professor Morris H. DeGroot Department of Statistics Carnegie-Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Professor James S. Dyer Department of Management College of Business Admin. University of Texas, Austin Austin, TX 78712

Professor Ward Edwards Social Science Research Institute University of Southern California 950 West Jefferson Blvd. Los Angeles, Calif. 90007

Professor Hillel J. Einhorn Center for Decision Research Grad. School of Business University of Chicago 1101 East 58th Street Chicago, IL 60637

Professor Jehoshua Eliashberg Marketing Department Grad. School of Management Northwestern University Evanston, IL 60201

Professor Peter H. Farquhar Graduate School of Administration University of Calif., Davis Davis, CA 95616 Professor Gregory W. Fischer Dept. of Social Sciences Carnegie-Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Dr. Baruch Fischhoff Decision Research 1201 Oak Street Eugene, Oregon 97401

Dr. Peter C. Fishburn Bell Laboratories, Rm. 2C-126 600 Mountain Avenue Murray Hill, NJ 07974

Professor Dennis G. Fryback Health Systems Engineering Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison 1225 Observatory Drive Madison, Wisconsin 53706

Professor Paul E. Green
Department of Marketing, CC
The Wharton School
Univ. of Pennsylvania
Philadelphia, PA 19104

Professor Kenneth R. Hammond Center for Research on Judgment & Policy Institute of Behavioral Sci. University of Colorado Campus Box 485 Boulder, CO 80309

Professor Charles M. Harvey Dept. of Mathematical Sciences Dickinson College Carlisle, PA 17013

Professor John R. Hauser Sloan School of Management Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, MA 02139

Professor John C. Hershey Dept. of Decision Science, CC The Wharton School University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104 Professor Robin M. Hogarth Center for Decision Research Grad. School of Business University of Chicago 1101 East 58th Street Chicago, IL 60637

Attn: Ms. Vicki Holcomb, Librarian Decision and Designs, Inc. P.O. Box 907 8400 Westpark Drive, Suite 600 McLean, VA 22101

Professor Charles A. Holloway Graduate School of Business Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305

Professor Ronald A. Howard Dept. of Engrg. Econ. Systems School of Engineering Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305

Professor George P. Huber Grad. School of Business University of Wisconsin, Madison 1155 Observatory Drive Madison, Wisconsin 53706

Professor Patrick Humphreys Dept. of Psychology Brunel University Kingston Ln. Uxbridge Middlesex UB8 3PH ENGLAND

Professor Arthur P. Hurter, Jr. Dept. of Industrial Eng/Mgt Sci. Northwestern University Evanston, IL 60201

Dr. Edgar M. Johnson US Army Research Institute 5001 Eisenhower Avenue Alexandria, VA 22333

Professor Daniel Kahneman Dept. of Psychology Univ. of British Columbia Vancouver B.C. V6T 1W5 CANADA Professor Gordon M. Kaufman Sloan School of Management, E53-375 Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, MA 02139

Dr. Donald L. Keefer
Gulf Management Sciences Group
Gulf Science & Technology Co., Rm. 308
P.O. Box 1166
Pittsburgh, PA 15230

Dr. Thomas W. Keelin Decision Focus, Inc. 5 Palo Alto Square, Suite 410 Palo Alto, CA 94304

Dr. Ralph L. Keeney Woodward-Clyde Consultants Three Embarcadero Center, Suite 700 San Francisco, CA 94111

L. Robin Keller Engineering Bldg. I., Room 4173B University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, CA 90024

Dr. Craig W. Kirkwood Woodward-Clyde Consultants Three Embarcadero Center, Suite 700 San Francisco, CA 94111

Professor Paul R. Kleindorfer Dept. of Decision Sciences, CC The Wharton School University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104

Professor David M. Kreps Graduate School of Business Stanford University Stanford, California 94305

Dr. Jeffrey P. Krischer Health Services Research and Development Veterans Administration HSR 7 D (152), Medical Center Gainesville, Florida 32602 Professor Roman Krzysztofowicz Dept. of Civil Engineering Building 48-329 Massachusetts Inst. of Tech. Cambridge, Mass. 02139

Professor Howard C. Kunreuther Dept. of Decision Sci., CC The Wharton School University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104

Professor Irving H. LaValle School of Business Admin. Tulane University New Orleans, LA 70118

Professor Arie Y. Lewin Graduate School of Business Administration Duke University Durham, NC 27706

Dr. Sarah Lichtenstein Decision Research, Inc. 1201 Oak Street Eugene, Oregon 97401

Professor John D.C. Little Sloan School of Management, E53-355 Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, MA 02139

Professor William F. Lucas School of Operations Research and Industrial Engineering Cornell University Ithaca, NY 14853

Professor R. Duncan Luce Dept. of Psychology and Social Relations William James Hall, Rm. 930 Harvard University Cambridge, MA 02138

Professor K.R. MacCrimmon
Faculty of Commerce & Business Admin.
University of British Columbia
Vancouver, B.C. V6T 1W5
CANADA

Professor Mark J. Machina Department of Economics, B-003 Univ. of Calif., San Diego LaJolla, California 92093

Dr. James E. Matheson Resource Planning Assoc., Inc. 3000 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025

Dr. Gary McClelland Inst. of Behavioral Science University of Colorado Campus Box 485 Boulder, Colorado 80309

Dr. Miley W. Merkhofer SRI International 333 Ravenswood Avenue Menlo Park, CA 94025

Dr. Peter A. Morris Applied Decision Analysis, Inc. 3000 San Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025

Dr. Melvin R. Novick 356 Lindquist Center University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa 52242

Dr. V.M. Ozernoy Woodward-Clyde Consultants Three Embarcadero Center, Suite 700 San Francisco, CA 94111

Professor John W. Payne Graduate School of Business Duke University Durham, North Carolina 27706

Dr. Cameron Peterson
Decision & Designs, Inc.
8400 Westpark Drive, Suite 600
P.O. Box 907
McLean, VA 22101

Professor Stephen M. Pollock Dept. of Industrial and Operations Engineering University of Michigan Ann Arbor, MI 48109 Professor Howard Raiffa Grad. School of Business Administration Harvard University Boston, MA 02163

Professor Fred S. Roberts Dept. of Mathematics Rutgers University New Brunswick, NJ 08903

Professor Stephen M. Robinson Dept. of Industrial Engineering Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison 1513 University Avenue Madison, WI 53706

Professor Andrew P. Sage Dept. of Engrg. Sci. & Systems University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia 22901

Professor Rakesh K. Sarin Grad School of Management University of Calif. at L.A. Los Angeles, CA 90024

Professor Paul Schoemaker Grad School of Business University of Chicago 1101 East 58th Street Chicago, IL 60637

Dr. David A. Seaver
Decision Sci. Consortium, Inc.
7700 Leesburg Pike, Suite 421
Falls Church, VA 22043

Professor Richard H. Shachtman Department of Biostatistics University of North Carolina 426 Rosenau 201H Chapel Hill, NC 27514

Professor James Shanteau Department of Psychology Kansas State University Manhattan, Kansas 66506 Professor Martin Shubik Department of Economics Yale University Box 2125, Yale Station New Haven, CT 06520

Dr. Paul Slovic Decision Research 1201 Oak Street Eugene, OR 97401

Dr. Richard D. Smallwood Applied Decision Analysis, Inc. 3000 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, CA 94025

Professor Richard Soland Dept. of Operations Research Schl. of Engrg & Appl. Sci. George Washington University Washington, DC 20052

Professor Ralph E. Steuer College of Business & Econ. University of Kentucky Lexington, KY 40506

Professor Hiroyuki Tamura Dept. of Precision Engineering Osaka University Yamada-kami, Suita, Osaka 565 JAPAN

Professor Robert M. Thrall Dept. of Mathematical Sciences Rice University Houston, TX 77001

Professor Amos Tversky Department of Psychology Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305

Dr. Jacob W. Ulvila Decision Science Consortium 7700 Leesburg Pike, Suite 421 Falls Church, VA 22043 Professor Detlof von Winterfeldt Social Science Research Institute University of Southern Calif. 950 West Jefferson Blvd. Los Angeles, CA 90007

Professor Thomas S. Wallsten L.L. Thurstone Psychometric Lab. Department of Psychology University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, NC 27514

Professor S.R. Watson
Engineering Department
Control & Mgmt Systems Div.
University of Cambridge
Mill Lane
Cambridge CB2 1RX
ENGLAND

Dr. Martin O. Weber Institut fur Wirtschaftswissenschaften Templergraben 64 D-5100 Aachen WEST GERMANY

Professor Donald A. Wehrung Faculty of Commerce & Bus. Adm. University of British Columbia Vancouver, B.C. V6T 1W5 CANADA

Professor Chelsea C. White Dept. of Engrg. Sci. & Systems Thornton Hall University of Virginia Charlottesville, VA 22901

Dr. Andrzej Wierzbicki International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis Schloss Laxenburg Laxenburg A-2361 AUSTRIA

Professor Robert B. Wilson Dept. of Decision Sciences Grad. School of Business Admin. Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305 Professor Robert L. Winkler Quantitative Business Analysis Graduate School of Business Indiana University Bloomington, IN 47405

Professor Mustafa R. Yilmaz Management Science Dept. College of Business Admin. Northeastern University 360 Huntington Avenue Boston, MA 02115

Professor Po-Lung Yu School of Business Summerfield Hall University of Kansas Lawrence, KS 66045

Professor Milan Zeleny Graduate School of Business Admin. Fordham Univ., Lincoln Center New York, NY 10023

Professor Stanley Zionts
Dept. of Mgmt Sci. & Systems
School of Management
State University of New York
Buffalo, NY 14214

